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UNIVAR
PRESS RELEASE

Univar Announces Results of Extraordinary General
Meeting

Company Also Indicates Changes to Financial Statements Relating to Adoption
of International Financial Reporting Standards

Rotterdam, The Netherlands — December 15, 2004 - Univar N.V. (Euronext Amsterdam:
UNIVRY), a world leader in chemical distribution, has announced the results of votes taken on
proposals made to an extraordinary meeting of shareholders {"EGM”) held today in Rotterdam.
The company also announced that it will adopt International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS"} in 2005.

At the EGM, the shareholders approved, by majority vote, all agenda items proposed. This
includes a proposal to redeem all of the company's cumulative financing preference shares at par
value plus their paid-in surplus and accrued dividends through the date of redemption, expected
to be in late February 2005. (The redemption is described in the company's press release of
October 12, 2004.) Also approved were amendments to the company's articles of association.

Information related to today's EGM is located on Univar's website at www.univarcorp.com

Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards

Effective January 1, 2005 Univar will fully adopt International Financial Reporting Standards. All
financial reports including interim reports will be prepared accordingly as of that date. Univar will
transition to IFRS effective January 1, 2002. Therefore, comparative figures for the years 2002
through 2004 will also be presented on the basis of the applicable IFRS standards.

Univar is currently assessing the differences between the existing applicable accounting
standards and IFRS. At this time, the only identified change that will have a material impact on
the company's financial statements is the reversal of amortization related to goodwill. Net income
will increase by US $18.2 million and $17.6 million, respectively, for 2003 and 2002.
Shareholders' equity will be restated accordingly.

The company will report its full-year 2004 financial results on March 17, 2005.

About Univar

Univar N.V. (Euronext Amsterdam: UNIVR) is one of the world's leading independent distributors
of industrial chemicals and providers of related specialty services, operating throughout North
America and Europe. Univar endeavors to service its customer base, made up of some 250,000
industrial end-users, with a full portfolio of products. The majority are commaodities the company
buys in bulk, then processes, blends and repacks to meet the diverse requirements of the
industries we serve. Others are specialties—purchased, pre-packaged and sold on a technical
basis, usually under a manufacturer's own brand. As well as differentiating ourselves through our
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vast product offering, Univar also provides a number of related services, both to its customers
and suppliers, such as blending, managing customer inventories, packaging, labeling, warehouse
management, waste management, technical support and managing vendor reduction programs.
Univar operates a network of 166 distribution centers, spread across the United States, Canada
and 14 European countries. Univar has approximately 6,800 employees based throughout North
America and Europe. The company’s registered office is in Rotterdam, the Netherlands, with
administrative support offices in Bellevue, Washington, USA, and Bradford, England, UK. For
more information, please visit: www.univarcorp.com

For further information please contact:

Univar N.V. Citigate First Financial

Gregg Sloate Barbara Jansen

Director of Investor Relations Tel: +31 (0)20 575 40 80

Tel: +1-425-638-4911 Fax: +31 (0)20 575 40 20

Fax: +1-425-638-4953 E-mail; barbara.jansen@citigateff.nl

E-mail: gregq.sloate@univarcorp.com

Website : www.univarcorp.corn
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Comparative Highlights

(In LUS$ millions except earnings per share, cash flow ratum on invesiment and ralios)

2004 2003 Change

Results =
Net sales $5,284.2 54,7174 12.0%
Cost of goods soid 4,441.0 3,962.2 121
Gross margin' BA3.2 755.2 1.7
Operating expenses {excluding cost of goods sold)? 706.6 656.4 7.6
Group operating income befora depreciation

and goodwill amortization (EBITDA) 196.0 163.1 20.2
EBITA 155.8 117.0 332
EBIT (Group operating income) 136.6 98.8 38.3
Net income availabla to common shareholders 65.2 42.2 54.5
Net operating prefit after tax (NOPAT)? 84.0 65.6 28.0
Earnings per common share exciuding goodwill amortization 2.9 2.08 39.9
Earnings per common share 2.25 1.45 55.2
Met cash flow from operating activities 42,3 70.3 {39.8)
fnvestments
Total investments in fixed assets 386, 421 (8.4}
Average capital employed 1,496.1 1,430.6 4.6
Cash flow return on investment (CFRCI) 13.1% 11.4% —

Distribution ot net income

Dividend:
Cumutative financing preference shares 2.4 2.2 9.1
Common shares 16.3° 10.5 55.2
Equity and financing
Stockholders' equity (before dividend ic common sharehoiders) B05.9 708.7 13.7
Long-term debt a13.9 457.2 (9.5)
Net debt 4211 4106 26
Ratios
Current assets : Current liabilities 1.8 1.9 —
Net debt : EBITDA 2.2 2.5 —
Interest coverage (EBITDA : Net interest) 7.3 5.1 —
EBITA : Net safes (%) 3.0 25 —
EBITA return on capital employed (%)* 10.4 8.2 —
After-tax return on capital employed (3%)° 56 4.6 —

' Gross margin is calculated as nel sales less cosl of goods sald.

* Operating expenses are calculated as total operating expenses less cos! of goods sold.

1 NOPAT refers 1o nel income plus alter-tax interest expense.

* Return on capital employed represents EBITA as a percentage of average capital empioyed, the latter defined as 1otal assets less non—interest-bearnng

linbilias.
* Afer-tax retum on capial employed represents NOPAT as a percentaga of average ca|

pital employad.

‘ Proposad.
Note: Certain items have been rectassitied (o conform to the current ygar's preseniation,

Profile

Univar N.V, {Euronext Amsterdam: UNIVR) is one of the world's leading independent distributors of industrial chemicals
and providers of related specialty services, operating throughoui both North America and Europe. Univar endeavors to
service its customer base, made up of some 250,000 industrial end-users, with a full portfolio of products, The majority

are commedities the company buys in bulk, then processes, blends and repacks to meet the diverse requirements of

the indusiries we serve. Others are specialiies—purchased pre-packaged and sold on a technical basis, usually under

a manufacturer's own brand. As well as differentiating ourselves through our vast product offering, Univar also provides

a number of related services, both to its customers and suppliers, such as blending, managing customer inventories,
packaging, labeling, warehouse management, waste management, technical support, and managing vendor reduction
programs. Univar operates a network of 164 distribution centers, spread across the United States, Canada, 14 European
countries and China. Univar has approximately 8,700 employees based throughout North America, Europe and Asia. The
company's registered office is in Rotterdam, the Netherlands, with administrative suppont offices in Bellevue, Washington,
USA, and Bradford, England, UK.

Registered at the Company Registry of the Rotterdam Chambar of Commerca under number 24334495,
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in your toothpaste.

glycerin

Personal Care. From the glycerin in your toothpaste to the surfactants in your shampoo, Univar helps you start your day
fresh and clean. Univar provides a wide variety of funclional ingredients used in oral care, health and beauty aids, hair care
products, body washes, creams, lotions and cosmetics.




Food. This year, more kids than ever will eat healthier, fresher, more delicious-tasting foods year-round, thanks to the food-
grade products Univar sells. Using its extensive distribution network, Univar provides more than 200 different performance
products used in a broad range of applications—meat processing, prepared foods, baked goods, beverages, confections, dairy
goods, snack foods and many others.
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ascorbic acid
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in your medication.

polyethylene glycol

Pharmaceuticals. Univar helps the medicine go down a little easier by offering the widest varisty of excipients, solvents and
process aids of any supplier to the pharmaceutical industry. Pharmaceutical customers value our product portfolio and Univar's
commitment to the unique requirements of their industry. Service offerings include reducing testing costs and providing product
lot controls, change management controls, supplier managemeni and more,




in the detergent in
your washer.

Compounding. Univar ingredients help brighten your laundry, clean your kitchen and sanitize your bathroom. Compounding
customers rely on Univar to supply the highest quality ingredients in the most cost-effective manner. Univar provides product
samples and application information, and even works with its suppliers o provide customer formulations.




To Our Shareholders

On behalf of the management and employ-
aeos of Univar N.V., | am pleased to report
to you on the results of a much improved
2004 fiscal year.

For the first time since re-emerging as

an independent public company two-and-
a-half years ago, we benefited in 2004
from stronger demand for our products,
particularly in the United States, due to an
improved economic environment. We also
benefited, during the second half of the year, from increases in chemi-
cal pricing, reversing our experience of the past several years in which
chemical price deflation was the order of the day. Despite continuing

to encounter intense competitive pressure in our markets, the combina-
tion of good volume growth, favorable chemical pricing and diligent cost
containment programs created the circumstances that made possible
our significantly improved performance this year. As a result, revenues
at Univar improved by 12.0% over the previous year o $5.3 billion, and
net income grew substantially to $65.2 million from $42.2 million a year
ago, an increase of 54.5%.

Qur improvement is also the result of self-help. For the past several
years, the management and employees of Univar have been working
diligently, in the face of very challenging economic and market circum-
stances, to fundamentally improve the performance of our business.
Specifically, we have concentrated on the basics 1o i} accelerate market
share growth and ii) enhance productivity, despite the difficult challeng-
es provided by our external environment. | am very pleased 10 report
to you that we have made excellent progress in these efforts. Today,
Univar is a structurally stronger company, better able to compete with
the many chemical distributors operating in the markets we serve, and
to deliver value to our customers, value to our producer partners and
vaiue to you, our shareholders.

Market Growth through Specialization

Univar is now in a position o build volume at a taster rate of growth
than that of our underlying markets by providing differentiated offerings
1o targeted industries. We have improved our overall return by spread-
ing our fixed and semi-fixed costs over increasing volumes. We believe
the key to our future growth and profitability is to continue expanding
our specialized service capabilities and market insights to targeted cus-
tomer groups in Europe and the Americas. All of our market specializa-
tion strategies sharg a common model in execution. All use specialized
marketing and sales support. All offer comprehensive product offerings
to targeted industry segments. All provide expertise- or know-how-
based solutions to knowledgeable buyers. All are focused on large or
growing segments of the population in the geographic markets we
serve, More specific information about these focused industry strategies
can be found in the sections of this annual report dedicated to our three
major business units—Univar USA, Univar Canada and Univar Europe.

Productivity Enhancement Drives Low-Cost Distribution
Despite the improvement in operating efficiency already realized at
Univar, there is still substantially more we can do to further improve
profitability by continuing to aggressively manage the productivity
of our operating companies.

Each of our operations is continuously participating in a rigorous review
of their physical networks and the flows of product through them. One
of the distinguishing characteristics of Univar is our ability to meet
substantially all the needs and requirements of our targeted customers
in the markets we lead. Our approach to productivity enhancement is
not an attempt fo reduce our capabilities or capacity. Rather, we seek to
reduce inefficiencies and redundancies in the way we handle product.
As a result, we are consolidating our packaging activities to establish
least-cost centers of production. We are designing product flows, from
point of production to point of sale, and then to our end-user point of
receipt, in order to minimize the number of times a product is handled,
reduce the ton-miles a product is transported, and reduce the dead time
a raw material or finished good is in our distribution pipeline. We are
building centers of concentration for packaging products that require
similar equipment and handling expertise, matching volumes to avail-
able capacity, and then balancing the network flows to minimize empty
miles and underproductive backhauls.

We are also evaluating the way we procure product in an etiont to
reduce our producers’ cost to serve Univar. For example, we purchase
a number of commodity products that are sold in very large volumes
across our network, Historically, many of these products are purchased
and resold in the same quantity: one tank in equals one tank out. To
increase efficiency, we are consolidating many of these shipments to
break-bulk centers and taking volume discounts on product purchases.
In the process, we are reduging the number of orders placed with our
suppliers, thereby lowering their cost to serve Univar's business. And
we are seeking pricing that reflects the relative efficiency of doing busi-
ness with Univar versus alternative distributors and channels.

Positive Outlock for Chemical Pricing

In addition to what we have done at Univar to improve our business
organically, over the next few years we also expect to benefit from
an upward trend in chemical pricing led by rising feedstock costs and
tight product availability.

The commodity chemical business is a cyclical business. During the last
years of the 1990s and inte the current decade, there was significant
compression of chemical margins. Largely as a function of oversupply
coupled with modest demand growth, the economic performance of the
industry in general and Western producers in particular has been poor.

Circumnstances have changed in the very recent past. Al indicators
suggest the industry has exited a trough and is poised to realize
significant supply-, demand- and cost-based appreciation in the pricing
of chemical products. Furthermore, we believe the change in the




costs of feedstocks—natural gas and petroleum—evidenced in 2004

is structural. While we can anticipate some moderation in the average
costs of feedstocks over the next several years, we believe there will be
cost-driven inflation in the commodities we sell and that chemical price
increases will outpace general rates of inflation. This circumstance may
create the opporiunity to realize increases in both the revenues and
margins we generate from our business.

Furthermare, we anticipate that chemical pricing will be driven not only
by rising feedstock prices, but also by supply and demand—driven scar-
city, On the one hand, there has been and continues to be significant
rationalization of capacity in Western markets, particularly the United
States. On the other, global consumption, especially in China, is rising
faster than new offshore capacity is being brought on-line. As a result,
we believe world demand will create a floor under chemical pricing,
generating opportunities for enhanced profitability, at least for 2005
and, perhaps, beyond.

Outlook for Univar
Looking to the tuture, | am encouraged by the possibilities. However,
we continue to believe that, given the many uncertainties affecting

specific financial outcomes. We do, nevertheless, recognize our share-
holders’ desire for timely updates on our progress throughout the year.
Therefore, in 2005 we will begin providing trading updates for the first
and third quarters, along with our regular detailed reporting of half-year
and full-year results.

We believe long-term goals and a company’s progress toward achieving
them are key criteria in determining whether a company is on track to
deliver shareholder value. For the past several years, one of Univar's
primary stated goals has been to improve earnings before interest,
taxes and amortization (EBITA) to 3.5% or more of sales by 2007.
While this remains an important goal, and one that we fully expect to

short-term operating results, there is little value in attermpting to forecast

Univar steres thousands of procucts in lot-controlled, product-specitic zones of its warehouses.

achieve within the stated period, this measure ignores a very important
element, namely the return on capital employed (ROCE) performance
of the company. Accordingly, Univar has also established the more
traditional primary financial objective, ROCE, with a specific objective of
achieving an after-tax ROCE of at least 1.25 times our weighted average
cost of capital by 2009. (Univar's weighted average cost of capital for
2004 was 8.1% and ROCE was 5.6%.) We believe this new goal is an
appropriate benchmark for the company, reflecting both Univar's ambi-
tious long-term plan and the realities of the marketplaces in which we
compete. Our other previously stated long-term goals remain: to achieve
average annual growth in net sales over the next several years of
between one and two percent in excess of growth in local Gross Domes-
tic Product, while achieving a net debt-to-EBITDA ratio of less than 2.5:1
with an interest coverage ratio of at least tive times. We are pleased to
have accomplished both of these latter objectives in 2004.

In closing, | would like to acknowledge the contributions of all Univar
employees worldwide to our very satisfying financial results in 2004,
To our various stakeholders, we look forward to building further upon
last year’s progress in 2005, and to reporting to you on our success.

Thank you for your continuing support of Univar,

Sincerely,

sz

Gary E. Pruitt
Chairman, Executive Board and Chief Executive Officer
Rotterdam, March 16, 2005




Information for Shareholders

GinanciallCalendan

March 17, 2005 Announcement of full-year results and dividend proposal for 2004
April 28, 2005 Trading update for the first quarter of 2005

May 3, 2005 Annual General Meeting

May 4, 2005 Dividend record date

May 5, 2005 Ex-dividend date

May 18, 2005 Dividend payment date

August 25, 2005 Announcement of interim resuits for the first half of 2005
November 9, 2005 Trading update for the third quarter of 2005

March 16, 2006 Announcement of full-year results and dividend proposal for 2005
May 4, 2006 Trading update for the first quarter of 2006

May 10, 2006 Annual General Meeting

Dividend Policy
Univar's dividend policy is to distribute annually 20 to 30 percent of its net income excluding extraordinary items, subject to
compliance with applicable financial covenants.

Relative Performance in 2004: Univar N.V.
Waekly closing prica versus Amstardam MidCap index

Effective March 2005, Univar is included in Euronext's Amsterdam Smalt Cap Index (AScX).
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€20
€19
€18
€17
€16
€15
€14

€13

€12

T3 unvarny, T amx




DatalRerdCommon]Sharel gl e Uc e P ey

2004 2003 Change

Net sales $182.16 $162.32 12.2%
Net income available to common shareholders 2.25 1.45 55.2
Met cash flow from operating activities 1.45 2.42 (40.1)
Total assets 83.48 75.63 10.4
Stockholders” equity 27.56 24.44 12.8
Dividend €0.41 ($0.56)" €0.29 ($0.36) 414
Payoul ratto 25% 25% —
Number of shares outstanding:

Weighted average 29,009,127 29,062,080

At December 31 29,250,071 28,993,443

* Proposed.

Disclosure of Major Shareholdings

Under the Disclosure of Major Holdings in Listed Companies Act (*Act™), a notification must be made to the Securities Board of the Netherlands
(Autoriteit Financiéle Markten, or "AFM"} when a person, directly or indirectly, engages in a transaction to acquire or dispose of capital or voting
rights, or rights to acquire capital or voting rights, of a listed Dutch company and the transaction crosses certain bandwidths. Because the Act
does not require that all transactions be notified to the AFM, information reported on the AFM's public database (www.autoriteit-fm.nl} may not
be accurate after the date of notification. At December 31, 2004, the AFM’s public database disclosed the following infarmation:

[MajorShareholders]

Shareholder Total Shareholding' Voting Rights?? Disclosed At:
HAL Holding N.V.* 46.49% 32.75% 01 July 2002
Ducatus N.V. 6.95% 6.95% 01 July 2002
AVIVA pic 6.37% 6.37% 01 July 2002
ING Groep N.V. 5.49% 5.45% 01 July 2002
Dexia S.A, 4.88% 4.88% 21 May 2003
Stichling Administratiekantoor Financieringspreferente aandelen Univar® 0° 28.74% 01 July 2002

Number of common shares and depositary receipts for cumulative financing preference shares divided by total number of common shares and depositary
receipts for cumulative financing preference shares outstanding.

Number of common shares and cumulative financing preference shares outstanding, or voting rights, divided by total number of commen shares and cumula-
tive financing preference shares outstanding.

The Stichting Univar has an indirect, potential shareholding as described on pages 58-59.

As notad above, the sharehoidings as reported te tha AFM may not be accurate after tha initial date of reperting. HAL Holding N.V.'s total sharehelding as
shown was reporied directly 1o the company by HAL Holding.

The Stichting Administratiekantoor Financieringsprelerente aandelen Univar sharsholdings are reported only by depositary receipt holders.

Univar's cumulative tinancing preference shares were withdrawn in February, 2005.
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Report of the Supervisory Board

We are pleased to submit this Report of the Supervisory Beard of Univar N.V. for the year 2004.

Annuat Accounts

The Executive Board prepared its management! repor, the annual
accounts, the profit and loss account and the balance sheet for fiscal
2004, together with explanatory notes.

We have taken note of the report and statement of Univar's external
auditor, as referred to in Article 26 of Univar's Articles of Association,
which we have discussed with the auditor.

We approved the 2004 annual accounts on March 16, 2005, together
with the amount of profits reserved by the Executive Board after the
distribution of the dividend on the cumulative financing preference
shares. Taking the audit report of the external auditors into account,
we signed the 2004 annual accounts. We propose that the Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders (1) adopt the annual accounts as
set forth in the annual report, (2} adopt the addition to reserves as set
forth in the annual accounts, (3) approve a dividend payable on the
common stock of €0.41 per common share and {(4) grant discharge
to the members of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board with
respect to their management and supervision activities conducted in
the 2004 financial year.

Activities

Qur Board held eight meetings during 2004. These meetings were
attended by the Executive Board and other managers of Univar, except
for parts of two meetings where management performance or remu-
neration was discussed and where the functioning of the Board was
reviewed. Four of the meetings were held in the Netherlands, one
meeting was held at a major company facility in Toronto, Canada, one
meeting was held in Paris, France, and two meetings were held by
telephone. AN Supervisory Board members attended all meetings.

The Executive Beard submitted for our approval the operational and
financial objectives of management, the strategies designed to achieve
these objectives and the parameters 1o be applied for measuring
accomplishment of the objectives.

Qur supervision of the Executive Board included a review of Univar's
objectives, the strategy and risks of the business, the Executive
Board's assessment of the structure and operation of the internal risk
management and control systems, the financial reporting process,
and compliance with laws and regulations. Imporant topics of the
meetings included review of US, Canadian and European operations,
budgets and financial performance, major litigation, the capital structure
of Univar and financing options, pension plans, business improvement
and cost containment initiatives, safety, health and environment activi-
ties, and management sucgession. Univar's compliance with the Best
Practice Provisions of the Corporate Governance Code was discussed
at a number of meetings. We developed revised Supervisory Board
rules and regulations (“Rules”} and rules for our three core committees,
and developed revised rules and regulations of the Executive Board.

The Audit, Selection and Appointment, and Remuneration committees
reporied on their activities.

We discussed the functioning of the Supervisory Board and that of its
individual members. In addition, we discussed, without the Executive
Board being present, the functioning of the Executive Board and the
performance of the individual members.

Corporate Governance

This report on the Supervisory Board's performance and duties in 2004
and in the period up to the publication of this annual report has been
prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Dutch Corporate
Governance Code published on December 9, 2003 {“the Code"). We
reviewed Univar's compliance with the Code and consulted with the
Executive Board to identify potential areas of deviation from the Code’s
Best Practice Provisions.

As a result of this review, a number of actions were taken. Amendments
to Univar's Articles of Association were adopted at an Extraordinary
Meeting of Shareholders held on December 15, 2004. These amend-
ments bring Univar into compliance with a number of Best Practice
Provisions of the Carporate Governance Code. The main changes are
explained in the Corporate Governance section in this annual report
and will be a separate agenda item at the Annual General Meeting to
be held on May 3, 2005.

We developed revised Supervisory Board rules and regulations and
rules tor our three core committees, and developed revised rules and
regulations of the Executive Board, We developed revised rules con-
cerning the ownership of, and transactions in, securities by Executive
and Supervisory Board membaers.

The Supervisory and Executive Board Rules include provisions
conforming to the Code's Best Practice Provisions that pertain to the
reporting and handling of conflicts of interest by Executive and Super-
visory Board members and the external auditor. No Executive Board
members, Supervisory Board members or the external auditor reported
any conflicts of interest during the year.

The Supervisory Board reviewed and approved provisions of Univar's
Code of Conduct that provide procedures whereby employees may
report alleged irregularities of a general, operationat and financial
nature to the chairman of the Executive or Supervisory Board without
jeopardizing their legal position.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee, comprising Messrs. van der Vorm, Bobillier and
Sharman, met two times in the presence of the external auditors and
corporate staff, and a third meeting was conducted via telephone. At
these meetings, financial reports and other financial-related topics of
Univar were discussed extensively. The Committee reviewed, dis-
cussed with management and the external auditors, and approved the




financial statements of Univar for the twelve months ended December
31, 2003, and the six months ended June 30, 2004. The Audit Commit-
tee reviewed the implications and current status of full adoption of Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards. The Audit Committee reviewed
the Intermal Audit plan and subsequent updates. The Audit Committee
received two reports from the General Counsel concerning corporate
governance and legal compliance.

The Committee reviewed the role and function of the Internal Audit
department, a number of tax matters, and Univar's relations with the
external auditor, inctuding its independence and remuneration.

Selection and Appointment Committee

The Selection and Appointment Committee, comprising Messrs.
Vogtlander and Sharman, met one time. The Committee discussed and
made recommendations concering the Supervisory Board retirement
rota, the appointment of a fifth member to the Supervisory Board, and the
succession ptan for senior executives.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee, comprising Messrs. Bobillier, van
der Vorm and Vogtlénder, met four times, The Committee reviewed
Univar's Remuneration Policy, the remuneration of the Executive
and Supervisory Board members and the stock option plan.

Remuneration Policy
A. Policy

Univar N.V._ uses a comprehensive remuneration program to recruit,
retain and motivate a high-guality Executive Board. It takes into
account sound industry practice and individual country pay practices,

Solvents are drummed quickly and satety in rooms specifically designated for this activity.

job market and geographic differences. The company has a strong
orientation toward achieving overall company and personal goals.
The Remuneration Committee and Supervisory Board will annually
evaluate pertormance against these goals.

Univar intends that the amount and structure of the remuneration
the Executive Board members receive shall be such that qualified
and expert managers can be recruited and retained. The remunera-
tion program will have fixed and variable compenents. The variable
component is linked to previously determined and measurable
targets that must be achieved partly in the short term and partly in
the long term. The variable remuneration component is designed
to strengthen the members' commitment to the company and its
objectives. Where appropriate, elements of remuneration are directly
linked to individual and company performance. The level and struc-
ture of remuneration is determined in light of, among other things,
the company’s results, share price performance, and other relevant
developments.

The remuneration program for Executive Board members will also
take into account any division of duties among the members.

B. Procedures and Remuneration

1. Remuneration Committee The Supervisory Board's Remunera-
tion Committee develops the company’s policy on Executive Board
members' remuneration and determines the remuneration pack-
age of each Executive Board member, subject to approval by the
Supervisory Board and the general meeting of shareholders.

2, Remuneration of Executive Board Members The Remunera-
tion Committee may seek advice from leading compensation
and beneiit consultants, with the aim of acquiring information
about remuneration packages for companies considered similar
to Univar in terms of size and/or complexity.




Univar owns and operates its own floal of vehicles, along with leased transportation, to ensyre customer satistaction with prompt and accurate deliveries,

In constructing and reviewing remuneration packages, the emphasis
is on linking pay to performance by rewarding effective manage-
ment as well as individual achievement. The mix within a package
is designed to align personal reward with enhanced shareholder
value over both the short and long term. Executive Board members’
remuneration consists of four components:

Base Salary Base salaries reflect an Executive Board member's
responsibility and experience. Valid deviations may be made
based on a person’s personal qualities and on the person's
potential to contribute to the company within the scope of his
or her assigned duties. The base salary is changed from time
to time on the basis of market trends.

Variable Annual Cash Performance Bonus Annual cash
performance bonuses are based on the company’s annual per-
formance against a pre-determined and measurable financial
target (adjusted return on equity) and, if appropriate, individual
accomplishments against objectives.

The variable component may vary between 0 and 200 percent
of the base salary.

Long-Term Incentive Component—Stock Options The long-
term variable component for Executive Board members is currently
in the form of stock options. These options vest after three years
and allow the holder to buy shares at a future date at a price deter-
mined by reference to the open market price of shares at the time
of grant, plus a minimum performance condition. This condition
requires that the share price has increased by a pre-determined
percentage before the options may be exercised. Stock options
are granted to the company’s top executives, including Executive
Board members.

d. Benefits Executive Board members participate in the company’'s
benefits and retirement programs, as appropriate for the market

in which they are employed.

3. Evaluation The value of the total remuneration package is re-
viewed annually by the Remuneration Committee.

4. Executive Board Employment Agreements Executive Board
members are employed under employment agreements that detail
the terms and conditions of their employment, including remu-
neration and severance benefits.

The Remuneration Policy has been posted on the Univar Web site.

Remuneration Report

Executive Board Employment Agreements

Univar entared into long-term employment agreements with Mr. Pruitt
{until 2010) and with Mr. Holsboer before the Code was introduced.
Either Univar or the Executive Board member may terminate thase
agreements upon appropriate written notice. Mr. Pruitt is entitled to
30 months’ severance and Mr. Holsboer is entitled to 12 months’
severance, in both cases if termination is by the company without
cause. The company wants to honor these agreements and will
therefore not be in compliance with Best Practice Provisions 11.1.1
and 11.2.7 of the Code.

Base Salaries
The base salaries of the Executive Board are reported on page 56.

Mr. Pruitt's base salary has remained unchanged since 2002. Effective
January 1, 2005, it has been increased by $50,000 (6.25%).




Mr. Holsboer started in 2003 and devotes only part of his time to the
company. In 2004, his base salary was increased by €25,000 (33.3%)
because he is required to devote more time to the company than origi-
nally anticipated. For 2003, his salary will remain unchanged.

Variable Cash Performance Bonus

The variable cash performance bonuses for the members of the
Executive Board are reported on page 56. These bonuses have been
based on an adjusted return-on-equity formula established in 2002.
The bonuses according 1o this formula came out at 78% of the base
sakary for the year 2004.

Stock Options

The details of the stock options granted to the Executive Board
members are reported on pages 56—57. The number of options
has remained unchanged from that in 2003, and for 2005, the
same number of options has been granted.

The options vest after three years and have to be exercised within
seven years. The performance condition is that they can only be
exercised if the share price has doubled.

Executive Board Pension and Early Retirement Plans

Mr. Pruitt is covered by the Univar USA pension and early retirement
plans, which include both qualified and supplemental defined benefit
and defined contribution pension plans. Under his employment agree-
ment, Mr. Pruitt’s benefits under the defined benefit pension pians are
enhanced. For the purposes of these plans, he is deemed to be two
years older than his actual age.

Mr. Holsboer is covered by a C-policy pension plan, as currently provid-
ed by Univar to its other Netherlands employees. This policy provides
tor a premium contribution of 15% of annual base salary.

The costs of these pension plans are financed within Univar's regular
pension schemes.

Special Remuneration, Severance Pay or Loans
No special remuneration was paid to any current or former Executive

Board or Supervisory Board member during 2004. In addition, no sever-

ance pay was paid or promised 1o any Executive or Supervisory Board
member in 2004,

The company has not provided any loans to Executive or Supervisory
Board members.

Supervisory Board Remuneration
The remuneration of the Supervisory Board is reported on page 57.

The remuneration remained unchanged and will also remain the same
for 2005.

Composition, Expertise and Independence of the
Supervisory Board

During the year, the Supervisory Board reviewed its composition,
expertise, independence and the profile of the Board.

The profile of the Board provides that it shall normally consist of five
members. During 2004, Mr. de Ruiter attained the age of 70 and retired
efiective as of the 2004 Annuat General Meeting.

At Univar's establishment as a public company in 2002, all Supervisory
Board members were elected for four-year terms. As a consequence,
the terms of Board members are not sufficiently staggered. The Board
has asked Mr. Bobillier to resign one year before the expiration of
his term in order to establish a staggering of Supervisory Board term
expirations, and to accep! re-nomination for a four-year term ending in
2009, and Mr. Bobillier has accepted nomination to return to the Board.

Wae reviewed the independence of the Supervisory Board and deter-
mined that its composition satisfies the independence criteria of the
Corporate Governance Code's Best Practice Provision (Article 1. 2.1)
on independence. Only Mr. van der Vorm does not satisfy all of the
Code's independence ¢riteria. Mr. van der Vorm also is the chairman
of the Executive Board of HAL Holding N.V., which has a more than
10% interest in Univar.

Information concerning each member of the Supervisory Board is
published on page 60 of this annual report.

Appointments

Following Mr. de Ruiter's retirement, Mr. Vogtlinder was elected to
be the chairman of the Supervisory Board and Mr. van der Vorm was
elected to be vice chairman of the Board.

The Board will make a non-binding recommendation to the General
Meeting to re-appoint Mr. Bobillier to the Board. As mentioned previ-
ously, Mr. Bobillier has agreed to resign one year before the expiration
of his term in 2006, in order to establish a staggering ot Supervisory
Board term expirations as required by the Code. The Board will make
a non-binding recommendation to the General Meeting to appoint Mr.
F. Waller to the Board. Mr. Waller qualifies as a “financial expert” under
the Corporate Governance Code,

We would like to thank the Executive Board and all employees for their
etfonts and dedication on behalf of Univar during the past year.

Rotterdam, March 16, 2005

Supervisory Board

P. H. Vogtlander, Chairman

M. van der Vorm, Vice Chairman
Y. Bobillier

G. J. Sharman




Report of the Executive Board

Our efforts over the past several years to position the company to take advantage of an economic upturn

paid off well in 2004.

Overview

Univar achieved significant improvement in both sales and net income,
Sales grew in all Univar business units due to higher demand and, in
the second half, rapidly rising chemical prices. Our strategy of focusing
on key growth industries while continuing to improve the efficiency of
our physical netwarks was very successful and has us well positioned
tor continued growth in the future.

Stronger demand was avident, especially in the US where economic
conditions in the industrial sector have clearly improved. Univar USA
sales and EBITA improved by 11.1% and 38.4%, respectively, Univar
Canada had another very good year and achieved its twelfth consecu-
tive year of record sales and earnings. Univar Europe had to contend
with a less robust economy, yet still improved its sales and EBITA by
14.0% and 39.0%, respectively. Gross margin dollars improved at a
rale nearly as high as revenue growth, while gross margin percentage
remained constant at 16.0%. For the third year in a row, Univar has
reported an improvement in net income available to common share-
holders, with an increase of 54.5% over 2003.

Currency movements generally had a positive etfect on financial results
again in 2004. As shown in the following table, some of the net increase
in sales and gross margin, and much of the increase in operating ex-
penses, was attributable to foreign currency movements. However, all of
the business units performed above 2003 on a currency-neutral basis.

Highlights

Univar recorded sales of $5,284.2 million in 2004, an increase of 12.0%
from $4,717.4 million in 2003. On a currency-neutral basis, sales

increased by 7.1%, surpassing one of the company's primary goals—to
grow sales at one to two percent above GDP growth in the countries in
which Univar operates. The company reported net income available 1o

common shareholders of $65.2 million compared with $42.2 million the
previous year. Earnings per common share after taxes for 2004 were
$2.25 compared to $1.45 in 2003.

EBITA increased to $155.9 million in 2004 from $117.0 million in 2003
primarily due to higher sales and gross margin. The company’s EBITA
margin improved to 3.0% in 2004 from 2.5% in 2003, a significant step
toward our strategic goal of 3.5%.

Dividends on cumulative financing preference shares amounted to $2.4
million, or $0.19 per financing preference share. All outstanding cumu-
lative financing preference shares were redeemed in February 2005, as
decided at the December 15, 2004, Extraordinary General Meeting of
shareholders.

Market Environment

The chemical market generally strengthened throughout 2004, bringing
both improved demand for the products Univar sells and substantial
appreciation in chemical pricing, although industrial markets in Narth
America were noticeably more vibrant than those in Europe. This
circumstance stands in stark contrast 1o the weak industrial econo-
mies—accompanied by soft demand and price deflation—that have
been prevalent over the past several years.

Maving into 2005, all indicators suggest the industry has exited a trough
and is poised to realize significant supply-, demand-, and cost-based
appreciation in the pricing of chemical products. There is a reascnable
likelihood that the increased cost of feedstocks—natural gas and petro-
leum—evidenced in 2004 is structural and that these cost increases
will find their way into chemical pricing for at least the near term,

Furthermore, a number of economists at leading chemical producers
and industry analysts have suggested that chemical pricing may be
driven not only by rising feedstock prices, but also by supply- and
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Change
2004 2003 Change {currency-
newutral)

Net sales $5,284.2 $4,717.4 12.0% 7%
Gross margin 843.2 755.2" 1.7 6.8
Operating expenses (excluding cost of goods sold) 706.6 656.4* 7.6 3.0
Group operating income before depreciation and goodwiil amortization (EBITDA) 196.0 163.1 20.2 14.6
Group operating income before goodwill amortization {EBITA) 155.9 117.0 33.2 27.4
EBITA margin (EBITA : Nei sales}) 3.0% 2.5% — —
Net income available to common shareholders 65.2 42.2 545 s2.1
Earnings per common share 2.25 1.45 55.2 521

* Certain items have been reclassilied to conform to the currenl year's presentation.




Operating Leverage at Work

Business Unit Revenues
(in US% millionsy
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In 2004. revenue gains at @ach Univar business unit resulled in greater EBITA gains due 10 eperating laverage.

On a consolidated basis, the 12.0% increase in Univar N.V. revenues led o 33.2% growth in EBITA.

demand-driven scarcity. On the one hand there has been and continues
to be significant rationalization of capacity in Western markets, par-
ticularly the United States. On the other, global consumption, especially
in China, is rising faster than new offshore capacity is being brought
on-line. As a result, world demand may create a floor under chemical
pricing for at least 2005, and perhaps, beyond.

Cutlook

Based on the operating progress of the past several years and the
enhanced outlook for chemical demand and pricing, Univar believes

it is well positioned to achieve year-over-year operating performance
improvement (sales and EBIT) again in 2005. This is dependent upon
a variety of factors that impact the external environment. The compa-
ny's results are, of course, dependent to a large degree on a varigty of
external factors, such as continued economic vitality in the markets we
serve, particularly in the manufacturing sector, Other significant factors
that can influence results include: pricing and supply stability in cherni-
cal and energy markets, competitive pricing behavior, and, to a lesser
extent, weather conditions that affect the sale of some of our products,
including agricultural and pest control chemicals.

Consistent with our previously stated objective of strengthening Univar's
market positicn over time by providing sustainable revenue and earn-
ings growth white maintaining a sound balance sheet, we will continue
to focus on our strategic goals: to achieve average annual growth in
net sales of between one and two percent in excess of growth in local
GDP and to improve Univar's EBITA margin to 3.5 percent or more.
Qur leverage goals of attaining a net debt-to-EBITDA ratio of no more
than 2.5;1 and an interest coverage ratio of at least five times have
been achieved, and we expect this will continue. In addition, for 2005
we have established a new, more traditional objective of improving our
return on capital employed (ROCE). We are setting out to improve

Business Unit EBITA
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ROCE to at least 1.25 times the company’s after-tax weighted average
cost of capital (WACC) by 2009. For 2004, the company’s after-tax
WACC was 8.1%. ROCE will be calculated on a 36-menth rolling
average basis.

Financial Performance

Net Sales

The company's 2004 sales were $5,284.2 million compared with
$4,717.4 million in the prior year, an increase of 12.0%. Sales
increased 7.1% on a currency-neutral basis. All three business units
expetienced good sales growth. In the US, sales increased to $2,545.9
million in 2004 from $2,290.9 million in 2003, or 11.1%. European
revenues increased 14.0% to $1,850.2 million from $1,622.8 million

in 2003, or 3.2% on a currency-neutral basis. The Canadian business
unit provided strong results again in 2004. Sales in Canada increased
to $830.3 million from $737.7 million in 2003, an increase of 12.6%.
On a currency-neutral basis, the increase was 4.8%. These increases
can be attributed to improving industrial demand, the company's focus
on targeted growth industries, and rising chemical prices. Growth in
industrial demand was reasonably strong in North America and modest
in Europe.

Gross Margin

Consolidated Univar N.V. gross margin as a percent of sales was 16.0%
both in 2004 and 2003. Univar's gross margin dollars increased 11.7%
in 2004, with the company recording $843.2 million in gross margin
compared with $755.2 million in 2003. Gross margin percentage was
up slightly in both Canada and Europe but down 0.4% in the US. The
decline in the US was due to continuing intense competitive pressures.
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Loading platforms tor tank trucks and rail cars allow for efficient, high-speed transfer of bulk corrosives, scivents and blends.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses on a consotidated basis increased by 7.6% in
2004, to $706.6 million from $656.4 million in 2003. However, on

a currency-neutral basis, expenses increased by only 3.0%. Continued
expense reduction efforts and improved productivity resuited in a
decline in expenses as a percent of sales in 2004 to 13.4% from 13.9%
the previous year. During 2004, there was a change in the estimated
remaining useful lives for certain assets resulting in a reduction in
depreciation expense of approximately $4.6 million. All three business
units were successful in controlling expense increases at well under
the rate of growth in sales volume and gross margin, Strict manage-
ment of operating expenses, including continued implementation of
network efficiencies and productivity improvements, are a key part
of Univar's stralegy,

Earnings Before Interest, Taxes and Goodwill Amortization (EBITA)
EBITA for 2004 increased 33.2% to $155.9 million from $117.0 million
in 2003. The increase was a result of controlled growth in operating
expenses combined with the increase in net sales and gross margins
from 2003 levels. EBITA margin (EBITA as a percent of sales) improved
to 3.0% in 2004 compared with 2.5% in 2003, a significant step toward
the company's strategic goal of 3.5%.

Net Interest Expense

Net interest expense decreased by $5.1 million, to $26.7 million in 2004
compared with $31.8 million in 2003, primarily due to a reduction in
British pound sterling-denominated borrowing, the expiration of certain
interest rate swaps, and slightly lower interest rates in the June 2004
syndicated credit facility.

Taxation

Income tax on income from crdinary activities in 2004 was $42.3 million
compared with $22.5 million in 2003. The effective tax rate was 38.5%
versus 33.6% in 2003. The company estimates its consolidated eflec-
tive tax rate to be in the range of 31% to 34% of 2005 pre-tax earnings,
which will be stated under International Financial Reporting Standards.

Dividend on Financing Preference Shares

Dividends on cumulative financing preference shares amounted to €1.9
($2.4) million, or €0.15 ($0.19) per financing preference share. This is
equivalent to a yield of 6.74% on these shares. 100% of these shares
were redeemed in February 2005.

Net Income Available to Common Shareholders
Net income available to common sharehotders improved by 54.5% to
$65.2 million in 2004 compared with $42.2 million in 2003.

Earnings Per Share Excluding Goodwill Amortization

Earnings per share excluding goodwill amortization after taxes for 2004
increased by 39.9% to $2.91 {(€2.34) compared with $2.08 (€1.84) the
previous year.

Earnings Per Share
Earnings per share were $2.25 (€1.81} in 2004 compared with $1.45
{(€1.28) in 2003, an increase of 55.2%.

Dividend to Common Shares

A proposal will be made at the Annual General Meeting to declare a
cash dividend for the 2004 fiscal year of €£0.41 per share payable May 18,
2005, to common shareholders of record on May 4, 2005. This repre-
sents an increase of 41.4% from the 2003 dividend of €0.29 per share.




Income Staternent Rate Balance Sheet Rate
Average local Year-end local
currancy vs. USS currency vs. USS
Europe

Euro 1.24224 1.36550
British pound 1.83308 1,93881
Swedish crown 0.13611 0.15088
Swiss franc 0.80478 0.88382
Norwegian crown 0.14822 0.16592
Danish crown 0.16693 0.18361
Polish zloty 0.27419 0.33305

Morth America
US dollar 1.00000 1.00000
Canadian dollar 0.76859 0.83161

Cash Flow

Net cash flow from operating activities was $42.3 million in 2004 com-
pared with $70.3 million in 2003. The decrease was due to currency
mavements and an increase in working capital necassary to support
continued sales growth,

Financial Position

The balance sheet on December 31, 2004, showed an increase in
total assets of $249.3 million from a year earlier, to $2,442.0 million
from $2,192.7 million. This increase was primarily in inventories and
accounts receivable, reflecting higher sales volumes and chemical
prices, and was partially due to foreign currency movements. Total debt
increased slightly due to foreign currency movements. Stockholders’
equity (before the proposed dividend to common shares) increased to
$805.9 million from $708.7 million, primarily due to additions from
net income ($67.6 million) and foreign currency translation differences
($29.5 milicn) less dividends paid with respect to 2003. At this time,
no material changes in the company’s financing structure are antici-
pated in 2005.

Cash Flow Return on Investment (CFROI)

Cash flow return on investment for 2004 increased to 13.1% from
11.4%. In this calculation, CFROI represents EBITDA stated as a per-
centage of average capital employed. Capital employed is defined as
total assets less non—interest-bearing current liabilities. Average capital
employed was $1,496.1 million in 2004 and $1,430.6 million in 2003.

Return on Capital Employed (ROCE)

After-tax return on capital employed for the year increased 10 5.6% from
4.6% in 2003. Univar calculates ROCE on an after-tax basis. ROCE
represents net operating profit {net income plus after-tax interest
expense, or NOPAT} as a percentage of average capital employed.

Foreign Currencies

For Univar, the principal foreign currencies versus the US dollar are
the Canadian dollar, the euro and the British pound. Income and
expense items in foreign currencies are translated at the weighted-
average exchange rates applicable for the period.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

Effective January 1, 2005, Univar adopted International Financial
Reporling Standards. All financial reports, including interim reports,
will be prepared accordingly as of that date. The company has decided
it will transition to IFRS effective January 1, 2004, and is continuing to
assess differences between the existing applicable accounting stan-
dards and IFRS. The only identified changes that will have a material
effect on the company’s financial statements are (1) a balance sheet
provision for previously disclosed but unrecognized actuarnial losses on
defined benefit pension obligations of approximately $139 miflion, and
{2) the reversal of amortization related to goodwill recorded in 2004,
January 1, 2004 shareholders’ equity will be reduced by approximately
$886 million, largely reflecting the tax-affected amount of the additional
pension obligation. The recognition of the additional pension obliga-
tion will increase 2004 net income by approximately $5 million and the
reversal of goodwill amortization will increase 2004 net income by $14.3
million. There may be other financial statement adjustments required
that in management’s judgment will not be material. In its December 15,
2004 press release, Univar announced that the company would transi-
tion to IFRS effective January 1, 2002, After further review of the IFRS
transition rules it was determined that a January 1, 2004 implementa-
tion is an alternative approach that improves transparency.

Human Resources

Univar is committed to fair employment practices for all of its employ-
ees, regardless of their race, color, nationality, religion, gender, age,
disability or any other status protected by law.

Univar continued in 2004 to implement initiatives to enhance produc-
tivity. The net effect of these activities was a decling in the size of its
workforce during 2004 to 6,672 from 6,786, a 1.7% decrease. The
Univar USA workforce was reduced to 3,316 from 3,383 employees,
a 2.0% change. Univar Canada increased its workforce to 766 from
748, or 2.4%. The Univar Europe workforce decreased to 2,503 from
2,592, or 3.4%. The remaining Univar workforce increased to 87 em-
ployees from 63 the previous year. At this time, no material changes
to headcount are anticipated in 2005.

Univar N.V. Workforce
December 31, 2003—8.786 employees

Univar N.V. Workforce
Decembar 31, 2004—86,672 employees
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During 2004, Univar USA changed its retirement program from a
defined benetfit to a defined contribution plan for employees hired after
July 1, 2004, and for employees with less than five years of service
with the company. Employees with more than five years of service with
the company as of July 1, 2004, will continue in the defined benefit
plan, All Univar USA employees are slill eligible to participate in that
business unit's Section 401(k) plan. Over time, the change to a defined
contribution plan will moderate the variability of the company’s pension
expense caused by fluctuations in discount rates and the value of the
assets held in the defined benefit plan trust.

Univar administers the company through its business unit managers,
providing thern direction and assisting their processes while not trying
o manage day-to-day operations. One example of this assistance is
the formation of a number of steering committees to analyze administra-
tive functions and identity opportunities for global cooperation. Steering
committees are composed of the top business unit managers for the
particular functional area, directed by a Umivar N.V. executive. Use of
steering committees minimizes duplicate costs while facilitating owner-
ship by the business units for the strategies, policies and/or technologies
adopted by the organization.

While business unit management may make the final decisions, subject
to appropriate levels of authority, steering committees help share best
practices and policies and procedures. They also exchange intellectual
and technical capital; evaluate technologies and proposed business
strategies; address common business unit issues; and look for synergis-
tic opportunities among business units. Steering committees currently
operate in the areas of Global Supplier Strategy, International Product
Sourcing, Information Technology, Human Resources, Safety, Health
and Environment, and Trademarks.

Univar is committed to being a responsible corporate citizen in all areas in
which it operates. ts Statement of Core Values reflects this commitment:

Safety: Safely is the first pricrity, the most important aspect of our work,

Ethics: We treat every individual in cur business and personal prac-
tices ethically with integrity and honesty.

Leadership: Each of us strives to lead and motivate by example
and consistently live up to these core values. We coach, train, devel-
op and empower employees to reach their full potential.

Employees: We respect and value every employee and are commit-
ted to support and develop each other personally and professionally.

Environment: We are committed to protecting the health and
well-being of our employees, our customers, the community and
the environment.

Continuous improvement: We will improve results for all our
stakeholders by doing the right things better every time.

Safety, Health and Environment (SHE)

As declared in our Statement of Core Values, safety is our first priority
and the most important aspect of our work. We are also committed to
protecting the health and well-being of our employees, our customers,
the communily and the environment.

Safe operational practices, healthy working conditions and care for the
envirgnment are essential to the well-being of Univar employees and
to the company's success. Therefore, the company is committed to its
global Safety, Health and Enviranment (SHE) policy at all levels of the
organization, and it is an integral component of all business operations:

Global SHE Policy

We recognize that safe practices, healthy working conditions and
conservation of our environment are essential to achieve sustain-
able profitability and continuity for our company and employees.
We are committed to ensuring that our operations do not have a
negative effect on the environment or the health and safety of our
employees and neighbors. To meet our commitments we will:

« protect the environment, the satety, health and welfare of our
employees and the health and safety of customers, contractors,
the community and other people in relation to all of our activities
through the control of our workplace environment

continually improve our processes to manage safety, health and
environmental performance

contribute to the continuity of our company through the recognition,
evaluation and control of hazards and the prevention of pollution

meet the applicable legislation, regulations and industry standards
that govern our business

establish and review our objectives and targets to ensure we are
meeting our safety, health and environmental commitments

provide the necessary resources, time and money to support the
implementation of this policy

train our employees 1o ensure they are aware of and understand
their roles and responsibilities in meeting the commitments out-
lined in this policy

make this policy available to all stakeholders and display it at all
of our locations

Univar management in each business unit is responsible for the local
implementation of the SHE standards that have been established on
a company-wide basis in the global SHE policy. Important elements of
these standards include organization and communication, standards
and procedures, security, training and education, reporting, assessment
and controls, and change management.

In 2004, the company’s SHE Steering Committee, which is responsible
for helping the company consistently address the SHE challenges

it faces around the world, continued its follow-up on the site assess-
ments conducted in 2003 at 22 of the company’s North American and
European facilities. The purpose of the site assessments was to ensure
the consistent application of the company’'s SHE standards. These
assessments supplemented the standard SHE audits conducted regu-
tarly within each business unit, in which each facility is audited at least
once every two years and many facilities are audited more frequently.

In Europe, while individua! countries all have local expertise in the
areas of Safety, Health and Environment and operations, Univar
Europe appointed a European Operations Director in 2004 10 manage
the company’s overall SHE and operations performance. This position
is also responsible for network optimization, non-chemical product



procurement, property and engineering, facilities, capital expenditures,
and logistics services. Of particular interest in Europe is the proposed
Registration, Evaluation, Autharization and Restrictions of Chemicals
(REACH)} legislation, the European Union initiative that could signifi-
cantly change the face of chemical manufacturing in Europe, providing
both a threat and an opportunity to chemical distribution.

In North America, Univar Canada is a member of the Canadian Asso-
ciation of Chemical Distributors and follows the latter's Code of Respon-
sible Distribution. Univar USA is a member of the National Association
of Chemical Distributors and is committed to the Responsible Distribu-
tion Processs™ set forth by that organization. Univar is also a member
of the American Chemistry Council and committed to its Responsible
Care®M program. Indeed, Univar Europe was one of the pioneers of the
Responsible Care program across Europe. Finally, all of the company's
operations employees are trained in every aspect of safety and proper
operational practices.

Univar's safety performance for 2004 showed no change over 2003,
and the company did not meet its goal of reducing its Lost-Time Injury
Rate (LTIR} in all three of its business units. Overall, on an ANSI
(American National Standards Institute) basis, the company’s LTIR
for 2004 was 5.0, and its goal for 2005 is 4.8.

2003 Actual 2004 Actual 2005 Target
Univar Canada 11.5 6.5 6.0
Univar Europe 6.6 71 6.0
Univar USA 2.5 32 25
Univar N.V. 5.0 5.0 4.8

Corporate Governance

Dutch Corporate Governance Code

The Dutch Corporate Governance Code (“the Code”) published by the
Tabaksblat Committee on December 9, 2003, is a landmark devel-
opment in governance for Dutch-listed companies, one that Univar
supported and so advised the Committee in writing during the drafting
of the Code. The Code's fundamental principle is “comply or explain,”
which means that a company either comply with the Code provisions
specifically or explain in a properly motivated manner why it is unable
to comply or chooses to deviate from a specific Code provision, taking
into account the best interests of the company. The Supervisory Board
may seek shareholder approval of such deviations (in which case the
company would be deemed in full compliance), but this is not required.

The Code is effective beginning in 2004. In addition, the Dutch Civil
Code requires the company in its 2004 annual report to indicate its
corporate governance on that basis. In view of the importance of the
matters addressed in the Code and Univar's commitment to transpar-
ency and accountability, the Executive and Supervisory Boards met a
number of times to review and implement the requirements of the Code.

Univar is in substantial compliance with the Code. In the few matters
where compliance with a specific Code section would be detrimental

to the best interests of Univar and its stakeholders, a full and sufficient
explanation is given and described as follows.

Amendment of Articles of Assoclation

Univar took steps to implement the Code in 2004 that culminated in a
number of significant changes relating to corporate governance being
approved by an Extraordinary General Meeting {EGM) of Sharehold-
ers on December 15, 2004. At the EGM, the shareholders approved
revised Articles of Association that incorporate a number of the Code's
Best Practice Provisions. In order to bring the Articles of Association
inte conformity with the Code, and with recently enacted changes to
the Duich Civil Code related o corporate governance, the Aricles of
Association were amended fo require:

= shargholder approval of important changes to the company's
character or identity

*» shareholder approval of the Executive Board Remuneration Policy

* the Supervisory Board to adopt a profile of its size and
composition

* that Supervisory Board members may not serve more than
12 years

» that Supervisory Board members not be granted shares and/or
rights to shares by way of remuneration

« the Executive Board to provide the Supervisory Board on a timely
basis with information it requires in the fulfilment of its duties

+ that shareholders have a right to put items on the agenda of the
general meeting of shareholders if certain conditions are met

Redemption of Financing Preference Shares

The EGM approved the redemption of all of Univar's issued cumulative
financing preference shares and eliminated financing preference shares
as a class of authorized capital. Although compliance with the Code was
not the primary reasan for the redemption of these shares, the voting
rights of the shares did not comply with the Code and their redemption
eliminates a significant deviation from the Code.

Supervisory and Executive Board Implementation Activities

The Supervisory and Executive Boards met a number of times regarding
implementation of the Code. tn addition to the actions taken on the
Articles of Association and the financing preference shares, the Boards
considered and developed new rules governing the Supervisory and
Executive Boards {*By-Laws™) and Rules Regarding Investments and
Inside Information by Executive and Supervisory Board members.

Executive Board Review of Internal Controls and Risk Assessment
The Code has imporant Best Practice Provisions relating to internal
risk management and control systems. The Code identifies as elements
of these systems that a company perform risk analyses of the opera-
tional and financial objectives of the company, have a Code of Conduct,
guidelines for the layout of the financial reports and the procedures

to be followed in drawing up the reports, and a system of monitoring
and reporting.
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Univar is commitied to quality and continuous improvement in all areas of the company. Shown hera, a lab technician utilizes a fully equipped laboratory to ensura quality and specification compliance for

packaging and blending aclivities.

Complacency and an unchallenged belief that a company is already
doing its best is not a Best Practice under the Code. The spirit of the
Code requires a fresh and new examination of ali internal controls and
risk control systems, policies and procedures. The Executive Board
embarked on a thorough review of its internal controls. This review in-
cluded a risk analysis. With the perspective that impravement is always
possible, this review resulted in scme changes to cerain policies and
procedures and in the implementation of new policies and procedures.

For exampie, a Disclosure Policy and related procedures were adopted.
The Disclosure Policy formalizes and improves existing procedures
designed 10 assure the prompt disclosure of material information in
accordance with legal and Eurcnext listing requirements and that
financial report disclosures are complete. A Code of Conduct was
implemented globally and distributed in eight languages. The Execu-
tive Board supervised a risk analysis and reported the results of it to
the Supervisory Board. The main elements of the risk analysis are
reported on pages 23-25.

The Executive Board did not identity any material weaknesses inits
internal controls or risk control systems. Univar will continue to perform
risk analyses and to monitar its internal controls.

Deviations from the Code

The Code sets forth a number of Best Practice Provisions governing
the conduct of Executive and Supervisory Board members and
shareholders. The Code recognizes that non-application of a Best
Practice Provision is not in itself objectionable and indeed may be
justified under certain circumstances.

The Executive and Supervisory Boards determined that it is not in the
best interests of the company or its stakeholders to comply with certain
provisions of the Code. These deviations were explained to, and dis-
cussed by, the May 6, 2004, Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

Article |l of the Code states the principles and best practices regarding
{a) the role and procedure, (b) remuneration and (c) conflicts of interest
concerning the management board,

The Executive Board of Univar acknowledges the responsibilities and
ongoing duties and requirements stated in Article Il. Univar is in compli-
ance with the best practices stated in Article Il with the exception of two
necessary deviations.

First, Mr. Pruitt's employment contract provides 30 months’ salary
as severance. Because Mr. Pruitt, as a long-term employee of the
company, is entitlied to severance of more than one year's salary under
applicable laws, remuneration practices and his employment agree-
ment, the Supervisory and Executive Boards believe the principle
underlying the best practice regarding severance is properly explained
and the deviation is properly excused.

Second, both Mr. Pruitt and Mr. Holsboer were elected by the share-
holders for indefinite terms. The company’s Articles of Association
provide that the shareholders may terminate an Executive Board member
at any time (subject to a meeting being duly called and convened) so
that the appointment of an Executive Board member remains subject to
shareholder approval irrespective of the duration of the term of appoint-
ment. The Supervisory and Executive Boards believe the deviation in
the case of the appointments of Mr. Pruitt and Mr. Holsboer from strict
adherence to the four-year term requirement of the Code is properly
explained and the deviation is properly excused.

Article 11l of the Code states the principles and best practices regarding
(a) the role and procedure, (b) independence, (¢) expertise and compo-
sition, (d) role of the chairman and the secretary, (e) composition and
role of three committees, (f} conflicts of interest and (g} remuneration
regarding the Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board of Univar acknowledges the responsibilities and
ongoing duties and requirements stated in Article ill and subscribes to
the principles and best practices provided therein. To comply with Best




Practice Rule I1.3.6, the Board has adopted a retirement rota which
brings Univar into compliance with the staggered-term requirement.

The Corporate Governance Code requires that the Supervisory Board
have a member who qualifies as a “financial expern.” The Supervisory
Board has completed a search for a fifth member who will so qualify.
A candidate will be submitted for shareholder approval at the AGM on
May 3, 2005.

Univar's Corporate Governance Structure

Univar is managed on the principle that a company is a long-term
coltaboration between the various stakeholders, including employees,
shareholders, customers, suppliers, creditors and the communities
in which Univar operates, who directly or indirectly influence (or are
influenced by) the achievement of the aims of the company. Integrity,
supervision, accountability and transparency in reporting are the four
cornerstones to building a successful collaboration between the stake-
holders of the company and to ensuring the successiul continuity of the
enterprise. It is Univar's commitment t¢ its stakeholders that it will con-
tinually apply these values as it strives to achieve its corporate mission:
to be the preferred quality partner for the distribution of chemicals.

Univar has an Executive Board and a Supervisory Board, both of which
are elected by the shareholders of Univar. The Executive Board and the
Supervisory Board have overall respansibility for balancing stakeholders’
interests and for ensuring the continuity of the enterprise.

The Executive and Supervisory Boards are accountable to the general
meeting of shareholders. The Executive Board is also accountable
to the Supervisory Board. The Anticles of Association provide for the
indemnification of Executive and Supervisory Board members under
certain circumstances.

Executive Board

Univar's Executive Board is responsible for the management of the
company and, as such, is responsible for policymaking and the central
management of Univar and its subsidiaries, and is responsible for achiev-
ing the company’s aims, strategy and policy, and results. Each member
of the Executive Board, individually, is authorized 1o represent Univar.
A numnber of specific matters that are listed in the Articles of Incorporation
and/or the By-Laws of the Executive and Supervisory Boards are subject
to the prior approval of the Supervisory Board.

The Executive Board has adopted, and the Supervisory Board has
approved in principle, new By-Laws which implement the Code.

The By-Laws of the Executive Board provide for a division of tasks
among the Executive Board members. Pursuant to the By-Laws, the
Supervisory Board has assigned to Mr. Pruitt the responsibilities of
chief executive officer. Mr. Holsboer is employed on the basis that he
does not devote full time to Executive Board duties. Mr. Holsboer's pri-
mary responsibilities are in the areas of corporate governance, strategy
and financial reporting. Mr. Pruitt and Mr. Holsboer were elected by
the shareholders for indefinite terms. Executive Board members may
be suspended by the Supervisory Board. Executive Board members may
be removed from office by the shareholders at any time.

Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board supervises the management of the Executive
Board and the general course of affairs of the company and the business
affilialed with it. According to Dutch law, the standard to be applied is
the best interest of the company and all who have an interest therein.
The supervision of the Executive Board by the Supervisory Board
includes review of (1) achievement of the company’s objectives, (2)
corporate strategy and the risks inherent in the business aclivities,
(3) the structure and operation of the internal risk management and
control systems, (4} the financial reporting process and (5} compliance
with legislation and regulations.

The Supervisory Board has developed new By-Laws and Rules Regard-
ing Investments and iInside Information, which implement the Code.
In order to ensure that decision-making is balanced and considers the
interests of all concerned, the By-Laws provide that a favorable vole
or abstention of the chairman and vice chairman is required for a raso-
lution to pass uniess a conflict of interest exists between the chairman
or vice chairman and Univar.

The Supervisory Board has adopted a profile for its members. The
composition of the Supervisory Board represents a balance of back-
grounds. Its members have experience in areas that are related to the
core activities of Univar and international experience in the markets in
which Univar operates. This includes international experience ranging
from economic and social fields to political and business activities.
Experience in human resources management is also a prerequisite for
centain members. Given the international scope and volume of Univar's
activities, it is important that the Supervisory Board include non-Dutch
members who are familiar with Univar's principal markets. The profile
of the Supervisory Board provides that the Board shall normally consist
of five members, including one member who is a financial expert.

Supervisory Board members are elected by the shareholders for terms
that cannot exceed four years. Supervisory Board members can serve
no more than twelve years. The number of Supervisory Board members
is determined by the Supervisory Board but cannot be fewer than three.

Supervisory Board Committees
The Supervisory Board has established three committees comprising
members of the Board.

The Audit Committee consists of three Supervisory Board members.
The charter of the Audit Committee obligates it {o assist the Supervisory
Board in its oversight of the integrity of Univar’s financial statements,
the financial reporting process, Univar’s system of internal controls, and
the review of the internal and external auditors’ qualifications, as well
as the company's process for menitoring compliance with laws and
regulations and the company's Code of Conduct.

The Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the
Supervisory Board on the Remuneration Policy and implementation
for members of the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board.

The Selection and Appointment Committee is responsible for preparing
the selection criteria and appointment procedures for members of the
Supervisory and Executive Boards, for periedically evaluating the scope
and compaosition of the Executive and Supervisory Boards, and for
evaluating the functions of the individual members of these Boards.




The remuneration of members of the Executive Board and Supervisory
Board, as well as the shares and options held by individual members,
are presented on pages 56-57 of this report.

Auditor

The external auditor is appointed by the shareholders’ meeting. The
Audit Committee has the sole authority, subject to approval by the
Supervisory Beard, to recommend to the shareholders’ meeting the
appointment or replacement of the external auditor, The Audit Committee
on behalf of the Supervisory Board is required to be directly responsible
for the compensation and oversight of the work of the external auditor
{(inctuding resolution of disagreements between management and the
external auditor regarding financial reporting) for the purpose of preparing
orissuing audit report-related work. The Audit Committee is required
1o pre-approve all auditing and audit-related and non-audit-related
services and the fees and terms related to them.

The Audit Committee and the Executive Board are required to conduct,
once every four years, a thorough assessment of the functioning of the
external auditor and to communicate to the shareholders the rmain con-
clusions of this assessment in light of the appointment of the external
auditor by the shareholders’ meeting.

Internal auditors are required to operate under the responsibility of the
Executive Board subject to monitoring of the internal audit function by
the Supervisory Board assisted by the Audit Committee. The Executive
Board is required to ensure that the external auditor and the Audit

Committee are involved in drawing up the tasks of the internal auditor.

The external auditor is required to attend the meetings of the Supervi-
sory Board at which the report of the external auditor with respect to
the audit of the annual accounts is discussed and at which the approval
of the annual accounts is determined.

Conflicts of Interest

The Executive and Supervisory Boards have developed By-Laws that
define conflicts of interest and provide procedures for the handling

of conflicts of interest. The conflicts of interest rules also apply to the
external auditor. The By-Laws provide that all decisions that approve
a matter presenting a conflict of interest must be listed in the annual
report with a reference to the conflict of interest and a declaration that
the By-Laws were complied with.

Shareholders

A general meeling of shareholders is held at least once a year.
Important matters on which the general meeting of shareholders
has approval authority are adoption of the annual accounts; adoption
of profit appropriation; additions to reserves and dividends; discharge
of the Supervisory and Executive Boards; appoiniment of the auditor;
appointment, suspension and dismissal of the members of the Execu-
tive and Supervisory Boards; remuneration of the Supervisory Board
members; the Remuneration Policy of Executive Board members;
authorization to purchase, issue or sell shares in the company's capital;
and adoption of amendrnents to the Articles of Association. The AGM
appoints the members of the Executive and Supervisory Boards based
on non-binding recommendations from the Supervisory Board.

The shareholders” meeting must approve certain important decisions
that entail a major change in the identity or character of the company.

Anti-Takeover Measures

There are a number of provisions that are or may operate as anti-
takeover measures. Univar may issue cumulative preference shares
on the exercise of a call option by the Univar Foundation. The Univar
Foundation is described on pages 58-59. Although not an anti-takeover
measure, Univar's credit facility (see page 47) provides that in the event
any person or group of persons gains control of Univar, a majority of the
lenders may declare all outstanding loans to be immediately due and
payable. The mandatory prepayment in the event of a change in control
does not apply to HAL Holding N.V. gaining control of Univar but does
include a change of control of HAL Holding N.V. in the event of, and
after, its gaining contrel of Univar, Finally, the principle that Univar shall
be operated in the best interests of all stakeholders allows management
to consider the interests of stakeholders other than just the interests of
shareholders in assessing a proposed takeover of the company, and to
take appropriate action.

Code of Conduct

Communication to all employees of Univar's standards regarding
business ethics and conduct is an essential condition to achieving the
four guiding principles that are cormerstones for all Univar employees:
integrity, supervision, acceuntability and transparency. To this end,
the Executive Board has adopted a Code of Conduct, a copy of which
is published on the company’s Web site and in the languages of the
countries in which Univar does business. The Executive Board is proud
of the high standards set by the Code. As stated in the Code, it is the
conviction of the Executive Board that at all times Univar employees
must act ethically and in compliance with applicable laws, The Code
has “whistle-blower” provisions that require all employees to report
misconduct and which provide for reporting, where appropriate, to the
Executive or Supervisory Boards. The Code and the strict policy of
the company prohibit any form of retaliation against employees who
report suspected misconduct.

Internal Risk Management and Control Systems

Management has no information that Univar's infernal control systems
are not adequate or are not effective in any material way, These sys-
tems include operational, financial and technical controls, as welt as
risk analyses of the operational and financial aims of the company.
They also include guides for laying out the company's financial reports,
the procedures to be followed in drawing up these reports, and a sys-
tem of monitoring and reporling on internal risk management issues,

In carrying out its responsibilities to maintain an effective risk manage-
ment and control environment, the company’s organizational structure
has clearly defined lines of responsibility and delegation of authority, as
well as comprehensive systems and control procedures. The company
believes this structure provides reasonable assurance that transactions
are executed in accordance with management authorization, and that
they are appropriately recorded to permit financial statements in
accordance with the Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the
Netherlands, and to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain




accountability of assets. This structure also allows the company’s
management to effectively identify, evaluate and mitigate risks, which
also requires broad understanding of its goals and objectives and
constant review of the business.

There have been no restatements of the company's financial reports,
and there were no significant changes in the company's internal control
systems during 2004. In addition, the company’s financial accounting
practices have not been under investigation by governmental authorities.

The company's Director-Internal Audit has overall responsibility for
internal audit at Univar and its business units. The Director has a
reporting relationship to the Executive Board and to the Supervisory
Board's Audit Committee, and is responsible for complementing the
activities of the company’s internal and external auditors.

The role of the company's internal audit organization is to assist man-
agement in the effective discharge of its control responsibilities and
duties. Using a risk-based approach developed with management and
the Audit Committee, the internal audit organization provides an inde-
pendent and objective assurance and consulting activity. The internal
audit organization is able to provide assessments of the effectiveness
and adequacy of internal controls on a regular basis and recommends
improvements when appropriate. Management considers the internal
auditors' and independent auditors’ recommendations concerning the
company’s internal controls, and takes steps to implement those that
are believed to be appropriate in the circumstances.

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the company's
accounting and reporting practices. The Audit Committee meets
periodically with management, the externat auditors and the internal
auditors, jointly and separately, 1o review financial reporting matters

as well as to ensure that each is properly discharging its responsibilities.
The Executive Board also meets with the Audit Committee and the
external auditors 1o review the company’s risk management and con-
trol process. The external auditors and internal auditors have full and
free access to the Commitiee without the presence of management

to discuss the results of their audits, the adequacy of internal accounting
controls, and the quality of financial reporting.

External Factors and Variables

Univar's resulis are sensitive to the following external factors
and variables:

Operating Risks
Univar's activities, investments and sales relate mostly to countries that
are politically stable. The political risk profile thus can be considered low.

Univar operates in a global economy, and the distinctiveness of and
events occurring in a local marketplace can affect its business.
Nevertheless, the company is substantially diversified through broad
geographic coverage, as well as in terms of its customer base, product
assortment and supplier base, to the extent that it regards this risk as
reasonably low. If the economy throughout a large part of one or more
of the company’s major national markets, such as the United States,
Canada, the United Kingdom or France, should experience a downturn,
this would constitute an event that could adversely affect Univar's
operating results.

The effect of industrial output on the sales of chemical distributors
varies by country, region and industry, and is dependent on the demand
for chemical products, and prices. Univar limits this effect by reducing
inventories and trade receivables as demand drops.

The effect of changing industrial chemical prices also represents a
risk to Univar. Price increases from suppliers may not always be offset
by similar changes in prices to customers. This would potentially
decrease margins.

Univar continues to effectively manage its inventory. Inventory risks
are limited, with products seldom remaining in inventory longer than
45 days. In addition, the company does not enter into tong-term, fixed-
price commitments with either suppliers or customers.

Energy pricing is variable, and the cost of energy is a critical element

in chemical pricing. It affects both feedstock and manufacturing costs,
Also, sales to the oil, gas and petroleum industries represent a signifi-
cant portion of Univar's business. Sudden movemenits in the wholesale
prices of energy could have a temporary, unfavorable effect on Univar's
margins. However, Univar does not enter into long-term, fixed-rate
contracts for the purchase or sale of inventory that might prevent the
company, in a reasonable time frame, from reflecting market pricing.

Univar operates many distinct computer systems, including different
hardware and software configurations for each major business unit.
The failure of one of these systems could potentialty have an adverse
effect on the business. However, this risk is mitigated by the oversight
of an Information Technology (IT) Steering Committee and by the on-
going reviews of the company's Internal Audit group. Formal IT disaster
recovery programs are also in place for each of the business units.

The chemical industry is cyclical, and end-user dermand for product
may from time to time outstrip the industry's ability to supply. As a
distributor of chemical products, Univar does not manufacture the
products it sells and may confront intermittent interruptions of supply
brought about by an imbalance in demand versus available supplier
capacity. However, Univar maintains sourcing operations in Asia,
Europe and North America, and enjoys {avorable relationships with the
world's leading chemical producers, No single producer or product is
sufficiently imporiant to the conduct of Univar's business to constitute
a material risk to the company's operating performance.

Facilities Risks

Univar has the risk that damage or loss to a facility will disrupt opera-
tions and otherwise adversely affect operations and financial resulls.
However, Univar considers the possibility of significant adverse effects
from such a risk fo be low. Univar has a large dispersion of facilities
and has a great deal of substitutability in facilities and operations, -
so the loss of a facility can be substantially offset, in most cases, by
transferring operations to other facilities. Univar carries replacement-
value property insurance to mitigate the financial loss, should it suffer
damage to its facilities.
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Univar employees understand the complexities of the chemigal industry and how 1o meet the diverse requirements of the company's customers.

Financial

Univar is affected by foreign exchange rate fluctuations because of the
multinational nature of its business and the need 1o convert results into
US dollars. Fluctuations in exchange rates between other currencies
and the US dollar could significantly affect Univar's reported results from
year to year.

Exchange rate fluctuations may affect the company’s results in three
ways. First, although each of the company’s operations generally incurs
costs and earns revenues in its local currency, results may be affected
by gains or losses arising from transactions whose terms are stated in
a foreign currency. The company’s policy is 1o hedge all significant
transaction exposure.

Second, the company's financial results and position may be affected
by exchange rate fluctuations when business results, assets and
liabilities are translated into US dollars. While the company may use
its debt portfolio to offset fluctuations in the translated value of eamings
or assets caused by currency movements, the company does noi
actively hedge translation exposure of either future earnings or assets
through the use of derivative instruments.

Third, the company’s results aver time may he affected by gains or
losses arising from changes in exchange rates that may affect future
competition, sales volume, prices, costs, etc. The company does not
hedge againsl this economic exposure to exchange rate fluctuations.
Overall, the company assesses this risk to its financial results to be low.

Credit risks in chemical distribution are usually limited, as Univar pro-
vides products that are often essential to the operation of its custam-
ers’ businesses, Credit risk is further reduced because each customer
represents only a small fraction of Univar's sales. As a matter of policy,
Univar carefully checks the creditworthiness of its customers. Risks
relating to interest rates, currency and credit are also addressed in the
Notes to the Financial Statements.

Univar operates a number of pension plans for its employees. The
terms of these plans vary from country to country. In the USA, Canada
and the UK, the majority of employees are covered by defined benefit
pension plans. Developments in interest rates, the stock markets and
other matters outside Univar's control may have a material adverse
effect on the assets of the trust funds related to these pension plans
and may lead to a requirement for Univar to make payments over and
above what is currently envisaged or provided for. New employees in
the USA and the UK participate in defined contribution pension plans
and, as such, market risk is being reduced over time.

As a global company, Univar is subject to taxation in many different
jurisdictions and under a variety of taxation systems, Changes in tax
treaties among countries within which the company cperates, or changes
regarding tax legislation in any specific jurisdiction or jurisdictions, could
affect the company's reported results from year to year. Univar regularly
monitors and incorporates developments as they pertain to tax treaties
and tax fegislation in all jurisdictions in which it operates, in order to
accurately report its tax liabilities.

in recent years, Univar has acquired a number of companies ¢perating
in its core business areas, and it expects to make further acquisitions in
the future. The company believes past and future acquisitions will result
in increased revenue and profit growth but cannot be sure it will always
realize these anticipated benefits. Achieving them depends, in part,
upon whether the operations and personnel of the acquired companies
can be integrated in an efficient and effective manner with Univar's
existing businesses. The process of integrating businesses may be
disruptive to both businesses and may take longer than the company
anticipates. The performance of the acquired businesses also may not
meet Univar's expectations. Any problems for Univar in managing its
growth, or unexpected difficulties arising out of acquisitions, could have
a material adverse eftect on Univar's business, financial condition and
results of operations.




Univar has processes in place to ensure proper due diligence is pes-
formed prior to making any commitments for potential acquisitions.,
Furthermore, as part of the due diligence process, management creates
a comprehensive plan that details how the acquisition will be integrated.
In addition, processes are in place to properly track such investments
once the transaction has been closed.

Competition

Univar faces intense competition in many of the markets in which it
operates, and changes in the competitive environment could adversely
affect the company's business and results. However, Univar believes

its extensive netwark and broad product and service offering represent
important competitive advantages. The requirement for significant invest-
ments in infrastructure and information technology represents a major
barrier to entry for any potential new diversified market participants,

The risk of loss of producer product lines is present in the industry.
However, in Univar's case, the company most often has multiple
sources of supply. Its ability to source products from alternative ven-
dors is very high.

Safety, Health and Environment (SHE)

Univar's business includes a wide range of operational activities (some
potentially hazardous) and gecgraphic locations. Given the fact that
Univar is engaged in handling, storing, transporting and selling poten-
tially hazardous materials, the company's activities can adversely affect
people and the environment. Claims regarding product liability, health,
fire damage, safety and environmental matters are a significant risk.
Univar has taken many measures 1o mitigate and manage these risks.

Univar carries insurance to protect against most of the accident-related
risks involved in conducting its business. Univar mitigates the risk of
on-the-job accidents in a variety of ways: accident pravention efforts
through planning, process and facility controls, salety training, safety
commitiees, safety and environmental audits, and post-accident inves-
tigations with follow-up steps. The company has established a SHE
policy and a SHE Steering Committee 1o oversee its implementation.
Univar's commitment to high safety standards and practices has resulted
in a reduction in both safety-related and environmental incidents over
the past three years.

Univar is subject to a variety of SHE-related laws and regulations and
believes it is in substantial compliance with these requirements. Univar
has a staff of SHE professionals and ongoing compliance programs
designed to identify and comply with all applicable laws and regulations
and to identify and plan for likely regulatory developments that may
affect its business.

Past operations (including those of acquired companies), carried out
under then-prevailing laws and regulations, have resulted in the contami-
nation of varicus sites, which must be remediated. Univar has spent
substantial sums on such remediation as agreed with appropriate
authorities and expects to continue 1o incur such expenditures until
remediation is deemed complete. Univar believes that, based on current
estimates, none of these ongeoing remediation costs will materially affect
its business. There is no guarantee, however, that such estimates will
prove to be accurate, that new contamination will not be discovered or
that new environmental laws or regulations will not be introduced that
will require Univar to incur additional costs. Any such inaccuracies,

discoveries or new laws or regulations could have a material adverse
effect on Univar's business, financial condition and results of operations.

Univar's existing organizational structure and underlying processes allow
it to consistently monitor siles under remediation which, in turn, pro-
vide current information regarding any future cost estimates. Univar
also engages subject matter expens to provide additional guidance
on site remediation,

Product Liability

Product liability is the liability arising from products sold by Univar after
they have left its possession. Univar's exposure to product liabilities for
which it is the party primarily responsible arises principally from deliver-
ing the wrong product to a customer. However, Univar has an ongoing

quality improvement process designed to eliminate errors in delivery.

Univar also has an exposure to product liabilities arising from defects in,
and from injuries resulting from use of, or exposure to, a product sold by
it. Univar’s responsibility for such product-quality and product-exposures
liabilities is limited. In many instances, the manufacturer, and not an
intermediate distributor, is responsible for liabilities arising from product
design, product quality and product labeling. Where a claim is made
againsi Univar and the faull is attributable to the manufacturer, Univar is
frequentty able to significantly reduce its responsibility through various
defenses. Univar's exposure to such claims is somewhat greater where
its supplier is no! available to respond to the liability. This may arise
where Univar's supplier is bankrupt or Univar is unable to identify the
specific supplier of a material.

Univar also has procedures designed 10 ensure that its suppliers
bear the liabilities attributable to their products. Univar carries product
liability insurance to mitigate the financial exposure associated with
the sale of products.

Asbestos Litigation

Asbestos and asbestos-containing products are a major source of litiga-
tion and liability in the United States. Pending lawsuits are described
on page 51. Although Univar expects most of these cases to be dis-
missed, or otherwise resolved with minimal payments, an increase in
the number of, and legal expenses related to, asbestos-related lawsuits
filed against Univar and its predecessors and Univar's liability for such
claims presents a risk to Univar. Asbestos claims-related expenses
and liabilities are not now material; however, it is possible that ashestos
lawsuits may in the future cause Univar to incur significant costs and
be a material risk. Insurance is likely to be available to cover some, but
not all, asbestos-related lawsuits for which Univar may have ultimate
liability. Univar's ability to obtain indemnification from, or pass liability
back to, its suppliers and customers may be limited by the bankruptcy
of many asbestos suppliers and manufacturers of asbestos-containing
products, and by agreement terms and other factors.




Univar USA

Univar USA completed a year of solid performance in
2004, both in terms of growing its revenue base and
improving operational productivity. For the first time in
several years, the business benefited from a favorable
manufacturing economy that provided higher overall
demand. Significant sales growth was combined with tight
expense control that contained cost increases to the rate
of inflation. These factors fueled exceptional growth in
operating income of 50.6% for the year. Through year-end,
however, the competitive envirenment remained intense.

Operating Environment

The business environment in 2004, in terms of supply/demand imbal-
ances, alternated between extrernes that only compare in recent history
to the 1974-75 and 1980-81 periods. In the early part of 2004, as in
the past few years, the chemical industry was characterized by apparent
excess capacity and resultant price deflation in many chemicals. By the
third quarter, this situation had reversed and many products were in short
supply, in some cases even on allocation from producers. This change
in circumstance was brought about by substantially increased ofishore
demand for chemicals, most notably from China, while supplier consoli-
dation and capacity rationalization, including plant closures, continued
to occur. Rapidly increasing global energy prices—in cil and natural
gas—exacerbated this situation. As a result of all of these factors, in
the second half of the year prices of many chemicals rose dramatically
and frequently; for some products, even monthly. Traditional price pro-
tection offered by producers also was reduced.

Yarry HIll, Prasigen!
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A one-siop source far food ingradients, Univar offers a {ull portialio from the world's leading producers. SPI Polyo!s awarded Distributor of the Year to Univar for growth in a line that supporis

low carbohydrate feod formulations.

Regardless of the volatile pricing environment, Univar continued to
benefit from the improved demand that began with a turn in the US
economy in the fourth quarter of 2003. Volume growth throughout the
year was such that year-over-year sales increases were achieved in
every month of 2004, Growth in actual pounds sold was approximately
7.0%, with price inflation averaging 3.9% (7.0% in the second half).
Gross margin percent was restrained o a degree because of market-
place factors. Qur ability to take full advantage of the higher demand/
higher price circumstance was tempered primarily by the competitive
environment. Aggressive competition still characterized the operating
climate throughout the US market, as has been the case the three pre-
vious years. Despite shortages of many chemical products, there was
significant marketplace pricing pressure that dampened our ability

to maximize the opportunity.

Core Strategies Paying Dividends

Throughout the year, we remained focused on our key strategies of
aggressive growth and productivity improvement.

Aggressive Growth

While continuing to drive growth in our core industrial chemicals busi-
ness, which serves diverse industries with a broad array of primarily com-
modity chemicals, we made excellent progress in furthering our strategy
to accelerate growth by targeting selected industries, and by creating
alternative, specialized channels to market for our producer partners.

We are placing special focus on industries with strong growth potential,
in which we already enjoy solid positions, to drive our growth strategy:
primarily food, pharmaceuticals, energy and personal care. In this way,
we have been able 10 build momentum within growth industries where




Selected Financial Highlights

(2!l dotlar amounts in US$ millions)

2004 2003 Changa Univar N.V. Revenues
Net sales 52,5459 $2.290.9 11.1% 7
Gross margin 408.7 379.1 7.8 / \
Operating expenses {excluding cost of goods sold) 349.5 339.8 29 / / \\ \
EBITDA 89.3 73.4 21.7 N :
EBITA 70.4 50.5 384
EBITA : Sales 2.8% 2.2% —
EBIT 59.2 39.3 50.6
Average capital employed 723.2 725.9 {043 USA
Cash flow return on investment (CFRO) 12.3% 10.1% — 48%
EBITA return on capital employed 9.7% 7.0% —
‘Cortain items have been reclassitied to conform to the current year's presentation,
we already have substantial product lines, and the ability to expand Food

them, to penetrate new customer accounts, and to earn a greater share
of business from existing accounts.

We implemented a product-based marketing approach in support of this
effort. We expanded our industry-specific knowledge and capabilities to
create a full range of products and services that compare favorably to
those of specialized “niche” distributors currently serving these industries.

During the year, we also restructured our marketing team to enhance
internal and supplier coordination in support of this evolving multiple-
channels-to-market strategy. The marketing team evaluates product
opportunities and identifies which channel to market best fits Univar and
our suppliers’ business objectives. The team consists of seasoned Univar
USA managers, including regional marketing managers, industry-specific
marketing executives, procurement managers and strategic planners.

Qur focus on the food industry is a natural fit with our strategy around
fulfilling the needs of the populations in our markets. In 2004, the Food
group sought 1o add new product lines and new customers, and to
achieve greater penetration of existing customer accounts. The Food
group's overriding goal is to become the recognized food ingredients
distributor of choice, and we devoted resources toward differentiat-

ing Univar USA from its competitors. We concentrated on developing
market leadership in specific, popular specialty food lines, such as
NutraSweet®—where success brought the awarding 1¢ Univar USA of
another product ling, Neotame™, a low-cost, unique sweetener that is
8,000 times sweeter than sugar. We focused on exclusive products
because exclusivity is a critical factor in leading categories. In 2004, our
efforts resulted in greater and more diversified revenues, and, equally
imporiant, recognition from producers and customers alike of the Food
group’s value proposition. We believe we have chosen the proper path
for long-term success in the distribution of food ingredients.




Pharmaceuticals

There are fundamental reasons for Univar's focus on the Pharmaceuti-
cal business, especially the fact that it is less vulnerable to overseas
migration: the vast majority of developmental work is dong in the US,
and the US accounts for more than 50% of worldwide pharmaceuticals
censumption. This is also a business in which non-product services are
crucial, due to the rigorous regulatory environment. Thus, the customer
focuses more on the total value offering from Univar USA—and often
rewards us with more business. We also are well positioned in terms
of having the broadest supplier base among distributors of non-active
pharmaceutical ingredients.

Sales dollars and volumes showed strong increases in what was a
good year for the Pharmaceutical industry in general. The year was
foundational in many ways, because at mid-year we installed a sea-
soned Univar USA executive to lead this group. We began to realign
our sales force to allow for a greater focus on the unique needs of this
industry. We also filled a key hole in our product line for the excipient
lactose, as Univar is now the exclusive North American distributor for
BDI. In 2005 we will provide further training and create sales tools to
increase consullative selling efforts.

Many branded drugs will be coming off patent in ihe next three to five
years. This presents Univar with a fine oppertunity to accelerate its
business in generic drugs during this time period and beyond. Going
forward, we intend 1o increase our presence during the developmemn
phase of branded and generic drugs 1o influence selection of Univar
ingredients. This will result in business growth that is less vulnerable
to price competition.

Personal Care

We experienced solid volume and revenue growth in the Personal Care
chemical products group in 2004. Univar USA’s aggressive growth
strategy produced increased gross margin dollars with a slight decline
in percentage. Our extensive product line of commodities and specialties,
the breadth of which we feel is second to none, was a large factor in
our success last year. Persenal care products are characterized by a
strong marketing emphasis for new product launches. Because market-
ing expenditures carry much greater weight than manufacturing costs,
this industry is not as susceptible to ofishore manufacturing migration
as many others. This fact, combined with projections of higher dispos-
able income available as the US population ages, creates market
dynamics that favor this business going forward.

Energy

Last year was a challenging one in some respects for the Energy group,
though sales improved over the previous year. Gross margins were
squeezed, primarily from aggressive competition, and., in the second
half, as a result of lower netbacks from refineries (i.e., profits from
processing crude oil from which a portion is paid to Univar USA). The
year was also affected by the fact that oil companies enjoyed a strong
year, and in many cases elected not to shut down in order to change
their catalyst reactors, deferring the need for products from Univar USA.
During the year, we did secure several excellent new offshore supplier
relatignships, which we believe will yield better service, support and
competitive pricing, thereby improving Univar USA’s overall competitive
posture going forward.

Specialty Businesses

Professional Products & Services® (PP&S)

PP&S, the unguestioned industry-leading distributor of chemicals and
equipment to the US professional pest control industry, represents a
significant portion of Univar USA’s overall revenues and profits. PP&S
had a very successful 2004, with solid sales and operating income
growth, Product pricing was fairly stable, unlike Univar USA's industrial
chemicals business, so the sales improvement was due essentially to
growth in pound volume. Geographic expansion continued in 2004, with
two new offices opening in key markels: Brooklyn, New York, and Vista,
California, increasing the number of sales professionals and upgrading
our marketing and advertising efforts.

A two-year negotiation was completed in 2004, resulting in an agree-
ment with Orkin (the second-largest US pest control company) to
become their exclusive distribution agent. Orkin has closed its internal
distribution operation and now relies entirely on Univar USA, Our
electronic and Web-based catalog was an integral factor in securing the
QOrkin agreement. The electronic catalog is a comprehensive, graphic-
ally-enhanced catalog used industrywide to order products, 24/7, from
PP&S. Itis an economical option both for PP&S and its customers.

PP&S also provides on-line education, a significant value-added ser-
vice. Approximately 40 different courses are offered that customers can
take to satisfy their continuing education reguirements. This is a great
convenience to our customers and, in keeping with our productivity ini-
tiatives, saves time for our salespeople, who have traditionally provided
this important service themselves.

ChemPoint.corm®

ChemPoint.com, Univar USA’s Internet-enabled marketing services
business, increased its revenues by over 50% from the previous year,
and increased its profitability even more. This business has the ability
to touch many more customers in less time and at lower cost than the
traditional distribution model.

ChemPoint represents a classic outsourcing model, and its value propo-
sition to producers has gained rapid acceptance in its brief history.
Niche-based, it segmenis primarily by customer behavior, It focuses
on specialty chemicais, not commodities, and has only exclusive
supplier arrangements. ChemPoint constructs a supply chain based
on the distinctive needs of each of its producer pariners. Its approach
to the supply chain and to addressing specific producer needs is unigue
and has been well received by producers and customers alike.

ChemCare®

ChemCare, Univar USA's specialty business that provides technical
expertise and logistics services in safely transporting hazardous and
non-hazardous waste, had an excellent year in 2004, compared with
relatively flat growth the previous year. With one of the best networks
in the industry for safely and economically moving chemical waste,
ChemCare has excellent potential tor growth alongside Univar USA’s
industrial chemical business. Virtually every industrial chemical custom-
er is a potential ChemCare customer. In 2005, ChemCare will leverage
an expanded dedicated sajes team, plus the addition of waste-industry
specialists, to build on the momentum of the past year. Particular
emphasis will be placed on increasing volumes of non-hazardous waste.




MozeP

Mozel, the Univar USA subsidiary that distributes specialty products
to the coatings industry, had a fine year in 2004. This business is strictly
focused on the CASE (Coatings, Adhesives, Sealants, Elastomers)
market. Moze! realized across-the-board improvement for 2004 in
revenue growth, gross margin enhancement and expense control,
in part due to the added value of having access to the Univar USA
warehousing and logistics network. Based on this success in the
marketplace, Mozel received expanded product lines from many of
its producer partners. Moreover, the business succeeded in growing
geographically, a key goal, west to the Rockies and beyond. The Mozel
organization has excellent potential for further expanding its footheld
with customers and producers alike, and we have optimistic expecta-
tions for 2005.

Productivity Enhancement

Our low-cost distribution strategy revolves around improved quality of
service, cost containment, continuous improvement and ongoing opi-
mization of our distribution network, In 2004, we continued our efforts
to transport and store more products via our hub-and-spoke network
configuration, in some cases literally altering the supply chain for key
products to optimize inventory levels.

To support our sales growth strategy, we are actively engaged in a
parallel strategy to achieve continuous improvement on the operations
side of our business. The goal: to drive unnecessary costs from our
environment while ensuring that our customers always receive superior
service. This is being accomplished through an ongoing process o
optimize our network by benchmarking against our own best practices
and industry standards. In 2004, we also elected to make investments
in our industry-leading information technelogy {IT) network in order to
cost-effectively extend the lite of the company's systems without need
of any major replacement.

A fundamental element of the optimization program was the commit-
ment to find the lowest cost to serve, which led to our hub-and-spoke
distribution network configuration, where inventories and key value-
adding activities, such as packaging and blending, are concentrated
at larger “hub” facilities that each service several salellite warehouses
{(“spokes™}. In addition, we completed an expansion project in Atlanta,
Georgia, to support the high-growth opportunities that exist in the
southeast from a major distribution hub. This project will cpen up new
supply chain and service opportunities for Univar USA in the entire
southeastern region. Network optimization efforts will continue through-
out Univar USA, as this is a key element of our business culture. We
will continue to find opportunities due to new markets and changes in
supplier logistics. Ongoing benefits accrue from building the tools and
the cutture to address business changes quickly, and responding to
ever-changing customer and supplier needs.

We continue to refine our continuous-improvement environment
with an emphasis on achieving productivity enhancement. Our manag-
ers measure numerous workflow processes, seeking o improve the
amount of product per employee we move through our facilities, reduce
or eliminate unnecessary or redundant inventory and generally increase
the return we realize on all assets employed in our business. We
believe we are making excellent progress in terms of productivity, as
operating expenses as a percent of sales in 2004 were reduced for the

third year in a row, while managing substantiat sales growth and
the eflects of general inflation in most expense categories.

A fundamental resource for productivity enhancement is our IT systermn.
Last year, Univar USA initiated a multi-year IT strategy, intended to
allow us to leverage the investment the company has made in its
system over the last 15 years. We will extend the life of the existing
system, and thus aveid the need to make substantially larger invest-
ments in new equipment and software development. This system is
highly customized 1o our chemical distribution business processes.
It effectively supports over one million transactions per year from
approximately 100,000 customers. In 2004, we updated the technical
architecture and provided some small enhancemenis that allow
us greater functionality. The balance of this enhangement project is
scheduled to be completed in stages throughout 2005 and 2006.

We are very pleased with the fact that the cost of information systems
to the company has been reduced again in 2004, as has been the case
each year for the past four years, continuing a trend of driving down our
costs of information systems every year. For 2004, IT ¢osts represented
less than 0.8% of Univar USA sales.

2005 Qutlook

In 2005, we have high expectations for our performance based on
another year of progress on our industry focus strategy, on operational
improvements leading to continued productivity gains, and on our
optimistic outlook for the industry: we look for continued strong demand
and a favorable pricing environment.




Univar Canada

We had another exceilent year in 2004 at Univar Canada,
with growth to record levels in sales, gross profit and
operating income. These accomplishments are paricu-
larly satisfying considering the intense competition in
the marketplace and pressure on export volumes to the
US and on margins as a result of a stronger Canadian
dollar. The company was also faced with uncooperative
weather patterns that delayed the onset of the crop
season, and, in the latter part of the year, shortages of
industrial chemicals. It is a testament to the resiliency
of the Univar Canada organization that these obstacles
were successfully overcome, leading to a twelfth con-
secutive year of record performance, including an oper-
ating profit increase of 23.8%.

Operating Environment

2004 began with a continuation of the excess capacity and soft pric-
ing environment that has been prevalent in the chemical industry the
last several years. By year-end, a strong reversal had occurred that
included product shortages and allocation, especially on ethylene-based
products and certain food ingredients, among other products. Strong
offshore demand for chemical products constricted available supply.
Higher energy costs, in particular natural gas—a common chemical
feedstock—pushed many chemical prices higher. Chemical production
costs also rose in conjunction with higher energy costs, boosting prices.
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In both cases, Univar was largely able to pass price increases on to
customers. For the year, pound volume at Univar Canada increased
3.4% while average selling prices increased 1.1%—and 5.2% in the
second half.

As the year developed, competition became more intense, with aggres-
sive pricing practices by several competitors limiting our own efforts to
maintain price stewardship.

The strengthening Canadian dollar also served to dampen resuits, With
a stronger Canadian dollar, customers naturally expect reduced prices

on imported products, and this generally lowers Univar's gross margin.

In addition, Canadian manufacturers who export to the US struggled to
compete with their US counterparts, thereby reducing demand,

A further challenge to the year was posed by weather conditions in the
Prairie Provinces. Weather has a significant influence on our Agriculture
business, and in 2004 we saw some of the worst harvest conditions
in many years. Adverse weather either delayed or negated entirety
the use of certain chemicals ordinarily applied by farmers, reducing
demand for our agricultural products.

Industrial Chemicals

While Univar Canada's business in resource-based western Canada
experienced growth in pound volume, some of the total revenue gain
was due to price increases related to energy costs and shortages,
leading to improved margins. These trends were apparent in several
industrial markets including, significantly, our largest western industry
segment: oil and gas exploration and production. The efficiency of the
sales organization in the west was improved by positioning the right
number of people in the right markets and by adding technical exper-
tise. This proved to be very effective in improving service and, thereby,

Unwar supplies glycols, antifoams, carbon and methanol te this natural gas dahydration facility in waslarn Alberta. Univar Canada providas the oil and gas industry with unparslleled 1echnical services,

and lab and process support.




Selected Financial Highlights

{all dollar amournits in USS millions)

Change Univar N.V. Revenues
Change {currency-
2004 2003* {actual) neutral)

Net sales $830.3 $737.7 12.6% 48% / .- \\
Gross margin 127.8 109.5 16,7 9.0 L :
Operating expenses (excluding cost of goods soid) 74.7 66.5 12.2 4.4 L g
EBITDA 57.5 46.8 229 15.3 \ g /
EBITA 53.3 43.4 23.7 15.8 .
EBITA : Sales 6.4% 5.8% — —
EBIT 53.1 429 238 16.3 CANADA
Average capital employed 163.8 144.4* 13.4 8.1 16%
Cash flow return on investment (CFROI) 35.1% 32.4%" — —
EBITA return on capital employed 32.5% 29.8% — —

~Cantain items have been reclassified 10 conform to the current year's presentation,

market share in key industries including Qil and Gas, Food and Bever-
age, Mining, Forestry and Pharmaceuticals.

Univar's eastern Canada business also experienced growth in 2004.
Revenues increased and we achieved healthier gross margins. Key
to our success was a build-up in the sales force of approximately 10%
over 2003. The addition of industry specialists as part of our largeted
industry strategy provided enhanced value to customers. Growth was
further fueled by improvements in most praduct lines, particulariy in
targeted industries. Gross margin increased, at least partly, as a result
of continued focus on better product pricing.

Agricuiture

Agriculture revenues improved in 2004 over an excellent 2003 per-
formance, despite the very unfavorable weather. This was a result of
adding new specialty crop products to our portfolio, a greater focus on
the independent retailer segment, and participating in strong manufac-
turer marketing programs. However, reduced demand related to the
poor weather conditions did temper revenue growth, and gross margin
growth slowed due to weather-induced shifts in the sales mix. Margins
were also affected by aggressive pricing strategies adopted by other
distributors in this very competitive market.

The resulting increase in gross margin, partially offset by increased
expenses related largety to higher fuel and insurance costs, led to a
modest increase in Agriculture’s operating income for the year.

2005 Outlook

The Canadian economy is predicted to be relatively strong again in
2005, based on forecasts from the Bank of Canada and other econo-
mists. Moreover, continued high ail and natural gas prices should fuel
significant capital investment by energy producers, which would be
favorable for Univar Canada. Ofisetting these factors 1o some degree,
we expect to see continuing tight supply, largely due to higher offshore
dermand for chemical inputs, principally from Asia. Supply issues ex-
pected to influence the chemical industry worldwide will likewise atiect
Univar Canada, not only restricting the availability of some products but
also improving our opportunity 1o benefit from price increases. In Agri-
culture, we expect to see latent dernand buildup in the spring after the
unfavorable weather of last fall, offset to a ¢ertain extent by continued
aggressive competition. All factors considered, the operating environ-
ment is expected to be favorable for continued strong performance by
Univar Canada.




Univar Europe jﬁf

QOverali for 2004, Univar Europe held to its basic
principles: an industry-leading sales team driven by

a “Passion for Customers,” simplification of execution
and focused application of marketing and industry
knowledge. These, coupled with a stable, highly effective
and experienced management team, have allowed us
to build further on the progress made in 2003.

In 2004, Univar Europe overcame a sluggish economic environment to
post revenue and operating profit increases in most of the 14 countnies
we serve. Total revenues increased by 14.0% over the prior year, or
3.2% on a currency-neutral basis. The results for both 2004 and 2003
were affected by profits made on the disposal of non-core properties.
In 2004, $7.1 million ($4.0 million in 2003} is included within sales,
gross margin and EBITA in relation to these divestments. The net effect
of the December 2003 Tazzetti acquisition and a non-core business
disposal in July 2003 resulted in an offset to net sales of $26.2 million
in 2004. Univar Europe’s actual organic sales growth for 2004 on a
currency-neutral basis was 4.4%. Pound volumes increased about
1.7% for the year, while overall pricing increased approximately 2.7%.
Volumes in the second half were up 2.2% with prices up 6.6%. EBITA
{earnings betore interest, taxes, and amortization) improved sharply to
$42.4 million from $30.5 million, or 27.5% adjusted for currency effects,
driven by modest organic sales growth, improvemnent in gross margins
in connection with price increases and excellent expense control,

Univar provides the coatings industry the raw materials needed to service the automotive sector. Here. a Peugesl receives a bright red finish al a PSA Peugeal Ciroen plant in Mulhouse, France.

Operating Environment

The operating environment in Europe was not as robust as for Univar's
US and Canadian business units. The year started as 2003 had con-
cluded, with flat or decfining chemical demand and, in some countries,
economic recession. Near the end of the third quarter of 2004, we
experienced a resurgence. Driven by the economic upturn in Asia
and North America, European demand finally improved, althcugh it
remained much softer than on the latter two continents. For example,
the decline in manufacturing cutput in the UK ceased, but there was
little growth, and in ltaly industriat output was still negative. Elsewhere
in Europe there was some growth in the manutacturing sector, but in
the latter part of 2004 demand increases were difficult to fulfill due to
product shortages driven by demand from China. This supply constric-
tion, coupled with the record price levels of oil, triggered widespread,
significant price increases in the second half—a phenomenon not
seen in Europe for several years. In this environment we were able
to achieve some improvement in gross margins.

2004 Review

Univar is our primary brand into the industrial chemicals sector, but under
the Univar Europe umbrella we operate under two other specific brands—
Fiske for our food ingredients portfolio and Distrupol for polymers,

Univar Brand
Based on the re-branding and restructuring of Univar Europe that took
place in 2003, and the comprehensive adoption of our “Passion for

Customers” culture, we were in an excellent position to capitalize on the
upturn in the markeiplace that began in late 2004,

John Phiilpotts, Prasideni
Chris Morley, Vice President - Finance and Administration
Guy Mantell, Vice President — Cormmercial

John McKenzie, Vice President — Salas and Markating
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Selected Financial Highlights

{all dollar amounts in USS millions)

Change Univar N.V. Revenues
Change {currency-
2004 2003 {actual)} nautral) .

Net sales $1,850.2 $1.622.8 14.0% 3.2% / - ™
Gross margin 301.5 260.4 15.8 5.1 ’
Operating expenses (excluding cost of goods sold} 266.9 236.7 12.8 2.1 ) ‘
EBITDA 58.9 a9.7 18.5 7.4
EBITA 42.4 30.5 39.0 27.5
EBITA - Sales 2.3% 1.9% — —
EBIT 34.6 237 6.0 349 EUROPE
Average capital employed 588.7 517.4 138 3.1 5%
Cash flow return on investment {CFROI) 10.0% 9.6% — —
EBITA return on capital employed 7.2% 5.9% - —_

‘Certain itarmns have been reclassified to conform to the currant year's presantation.

Leading this upward trend was our UK business, which for several
years has struggled as the market leader in a declining industrial sector
under considerable pricing pressure. The restructuring of this business
unit, which took place in the latter part of 2003 to simplify its approach
to market, has paid excellent dividends with a better top-line and a dra-
matically improved bottom-line performance in 2004. Given continued
improvement in operational performance and better market conditions,
we envision a brighter future for our UK business.

France, the other major market where we enjoy a leading market share,
is still managing some of the etfects of the merger of three businesses
in 2003. Qur French company therefore did not enjoy the same leve!
of profit growth as the UK, but given the circumstances it still dem-
onstrated a solid performance. We are optimistic about our future in
France and feel we have in place the right management group 1o lead
our efforts toward increasing market share and improving profitability. In
particular, there are substantial oppertunities available to us in France
for improving performance through network optimization and business
process improvements.

With one exception, our other Univar busingsses across Europe gener-
ally improved, bath in terms of sales and profitability, during 2004.
The one exception was our Nordic business. Traditionally its sales mix
has a strong solvent bias, and in the first half of the year we suffered
from competitive price pressures on solvents coupled with relatively
unfriendly economic and environmental pressures on our product line.
As price increases took hold in the second half, margins improved, and
with the repositioning of some of our porttalio we look forward to an
improved year in 2005.

Commodity distributor Tazzetti was incorporated into our ltalian
business at the beginning of 2004 to build upon our strong specialty
product portfolio. This acquisition has been successtul in all respects
and, importantly, complemented the Univar business so well, in terms
of management and product portiolio, that we were able to fully merge
the businesses and bring the Tazzetti brand into Univar earlier than
scheduled.




Fiske®

Fiske is now well established within all of our Eurcpean businesses,
with dedicated food technicians in each country. Revenues in 2004
impraved sharply over the prior year. The investments we made in this
brand over the last two years are rewarding us well, and now, as a mar-
ket leader across Europe, we expect to see continued strong growth.

Distrupof®

Distrupo! had a year of mixed fortunes as it continued to recover its
position following the loss of a key polyolefin distribution line in 2003.
Depending on geography, this line has been replaced by either BP
Chemicals or SABIC EuroPetrochemicals—both major players. The lat-
ter's confidence in Distrupol as their preferred route 10 market allowed
us 1o increase our French business significantly when they closed their
in-house distributor, essentially turning over the business to Distrupol.

Distrupol further enhanced its business last year by the introduction of
Distrupol Impact—a telemarketing sales channel based in the Nether-
lands, with the ability to market both commodity and technical polymers
across Europe.

Strategic Focus

As with our North American businesses, in Europe one of our key
strategies is 1o focus on the end-use needs of the populations in our
markets, and we are targeting specific industries for growth. Our ability
to buitd and develop brands is serving us well, and we continue to use
this approach tg focus on growth and niche markets, such as food and
polymers.

In this regard, we continue to view the lower-cost economies in central
and eastern Europe, to which many of our customers and chemical pro-
ducers have migrated, as representing a significant growth opportunity.
Therefore, in the first half of 2005 we anticipate making a small acquisi-
tion in the region to facilitate the development of all three of our major
brands—Univar, Fiske and Distrupocl. Our entry into eastern Europe in
this way is a platform through which we hope to grow in this important
region, both organically and through additional selective acquisitions.

A new brand was added to Univar Europe’s portfolio in 2004: Dureal®.
While still in its infancy, Dureal is Univar Europe’s vehicle for the dis-
tribution of AdBlue™ across Europe. AdBlue is the trademarked name
for urea solution, which under European legislation must be introduced

into all new heavy-duty diesel engines from 2005 onward. The solution
is required for use in conjunction with the catalytic converter to reduce
engine emissions significanily. It ultimately represents a very important
market, driven by legislation already in force, to a defined yet different
customer base than normally associated with chemical distribution.
Univar has pioneered a total solution concept and is viewed by many
as the current market leader, which should give us early competitive
advantage.

We also have made a commitment to bring ChemPaint, Univar's fast-
growing and very successful US specialty unit, to Univar Europe. With the
large number of small customers in Europe, this model is very appropriate
for the market. Initially, cperations will be focused on selling into the

UK, Benelux, Germany and France.

2005 Outlook

Despite some indications of economic upturn in the latter part of 2004,
our expectation for 2005 in Europe once again is based primarily on
our own initiatives rather than assumptions ot improvement in our
operating environment. We plan to maintain our position as the choice
for chemical producers looking to grow their distribution business in
Europe. We further expect to continue to grow sales ahead of industrial
output, gaining market share through our competitiveness and our close
relationships with customers.

Our profit growth in 2004 was driven as much by cost containment as
through top-line sales growth, and this will remain high on our agenda
as we move forward. The introduction of a European Operations Direc-
tor with supply chain expertise and a strong background in our industry
is providing us with many opportunities to improve our operational
efiectiveness.

With our leading supplier, product and service offerings to many
industries, we are well placed to achieve revenue and operating
income growth in 2005. Sustained improvement in the economies
of Europe, should it occur this year, could enhance our own perfor-
mance significantly.
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Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated income statement
for the years ended December 31,

(in US § millions, except earnings per share) Note 2004 2003
Net sales 1 5,284.2 4,717 .4
Cost of goods sold 2 4,441.0 3,962.2
Personnel costs - i '.:3_ - 566.1 3659
Depreciation expense 40.1 46.1
A-mortization of goodwill ) - - 7 19.3 7 71A8.2 .
Other operating expenses o S ) 5411 226.2
Total operating expenses 51476 46186
Group operating income 136.6 98.8
Interest income 31 26
Interest expense ) Y 7 344
Interest expense, net 26.7 318
Income from ordinary activities before taxes 109.9 67.0
Income tax expense 4 42.3 225
Net income before third-party interests 67.6 445
Third-party interests - 0.1
Net income 5 67.6 44.4
Dividend on cumulative financing preference shares 24 2.2
Net income available to common shareholders 65.2 42.2
Basic earnings per common share 6 2.25 145

Fully diluted earnings per common share 6 224 145




Consolidated balance sheet at December 31,

(Before proposed distribution of net income to holders of common shares)

(in US $ millions) Note 2004 2003
Intangible fixed assets 7 317.6 3256
Tangible fixed assets 8 471.2 466.2
Total fixed assets 788.8 791.8
Inventories 9 514.4 420.0
Accounts receivable 10 828.0 678.9
Other receivables and prepaid expenses 1 249.2 236.1
Cash and cash equivatents 12 61.6 659
Total current assets - 1,653.2 1,400.9
Amounts owed to banks 13 66.5 16.9
Current portion of long-term debt 23 24
Trade accounts and other accounts payable 14 865.9 711.6
Dividend on cumulative financing preference shares 2.7 2.4
Total current liabilities 937.4 7333
Current assets less current liabilities 715.8 667.6
Total assets less current liabilities 1,504.6 1,459.4
Long-term debt 15,16 413.9 4572
Provisions 17,18 284.6 293.3
Third-party interests 0.2 0.2
Stockholders’ equity 19 805.9 708.7
Group equity 806.1 708.9

Total 1,504.6 1,450.4




Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the years ended December 31,

(in US § millions}) 2004 2003
Net income 67.6 44.4
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amertization 59.4 64.3
Mgovements in provisions (15.2) 1.0
Gain on sale of tangible fixed assets {2.6) (4.5)
Gain on sale of group companies - (0.1)
Gross cash flow from operating activities 109.2 105.1
Movements in working capital (excluding cash and
cac;heequivalents‘ shogrt-ter:nt'nacr(:di(: :?m E’!ividend) {66.9} (34.8)
Net cash flow from operating activities 42.3 70.3
Investments:
Tangible fixed assets (38.5) (37.0)
Business acquisitions {including goodwill) {0.1) {5.1)
Total investments (38.6) (42.1})
Disposals: 7
Tangible fixed assets 10.9 15.0
Proceeds on sale of group companies - 4.7
Total disposals 10.9 19.7
Net cash flow from investing activities (27.7) (22.4)
Financing: o
Repayment of long-term debt (409.3) (226.3)
Proceeds from long-term deb! 3454 2401
Net proceeds from share issues 4.2 -
Purchase of own shares - (1.1
Dividend tax (0.7} -
Cash dividends _ (12.7) (84)
Net movements in short-term financing 44.3 (34.1)
Net cash flow from financing activities (28.8) (29.8)
Net cash flow (14.2) 18.1
Exchange and translation differences 9.9 {28.4)
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (4.3) {10.3)




Corporate information

At the end of June 2002, Univar N.V. (“Univar” or “the company”) by means of a legal split-off (juridische splitsing) under
Dutch law, was separated from Koninklijke Vopak N.V. (“Royal Vopak” or "Vopak”). Following the split-off, Univar was listed
as a separate company on Euronext Amsterdam. For accounting purposes the effective date of the split-off was January 1,
2002.

The company's principle business activities consist of distributing industrial chemicals and providing related specialty services
throughout North America and Europe. Univar comprises three distinct business units that serve three geographic regions:
Univar USA, Univar Canada and Univar Europe. The company operates a network of 164 distribution centers, spread across
the United States, Canada, 14 European countries and China.

Univar's customer base is made up of some 250,000 industrial end-users, with access to a full portfolio of products. The
majority of Univar's products are commodities the company buys in bulk, then processes, blends and repacks to meet the
diverse requirements of the industries served. Others are specialty products which are purchased pre-packaged and sold
using in-house technical expertise, usually under a manufacturer's own brand. Univar differentiates itself through a vast
product offering, including a number of related services, both to its customers and suppliers, such as blending, managing
customer inventories, packaging, labeling, warehouse management, waste management, technical support and managing
vendor reduction programs.

Since a major part of Univar's operations are conducted in US dollars, Univar has opted to present its financial statements in
US dollars. All amounts are in US dollars, unless stated otherwise.

The company’s statutory seat is in Rotterdam, 333 Blaak, 11" floor, 3011 GB, The Netherlands.

Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of Univar have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the Netherlands and the financial reporting requirements included in Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil
Code.

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention. Departures, if any, from historical cost rules are
disclosed separately.

Income and expenses are accounted for in accordance with the accrual concept. Income is recognized when realized and
losses are accounted for when they are incurred or foreseen.

Certain items have been reclassified to conform to current year's presentation.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Univar and its group companies. Group companies
are companies which together form an economic entity operating under joint management and over whose operating and
financial decisions Univar as a rule exercises power of control. All intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation. The assets, liabilities, income and expenses are included in the financial statements, net of the
share of minority interest in group equity and results, which is disclosed separately in the income statement and the balance
sheet. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to Univar and cease to be consolidated
fram the date on which contral is transferred out of Univar.

Investments in companigs in which Univar does not have the ability to directly or indirectly control the operating and financial
decisions, but does possess the ability to exercise significant influence, are accounted for at net asset value. Generally,
significant influence is presumed to exist if at least 20% of the voting stock is owned.

A list of consolidated group companies pursuant to Section 414, Book 2, of the Netherlands Civil Code has been filed with the
company registry in Rotterdam and is available for inspection.

Foreign currency transtation

The functional currency of foreign operations is generally the local currency, unless the primary economic environment
requires the use of another currency. Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functionat
currency of the logal entity at the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities are measured at the year-end rate of
the functional currency and resulting exchange differences are taken directly to the income statement.

Assets and liabilities of group companies denominated in foreign currencies are translated into US dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Exchange gains or losses on the translation to US dollars of the net investment in
foreign group companies, equity participations and receivables of a financing nature, as well as loans denominated in foreign
currencies raised to hedge currency risks, arising from differences between the rates at the beginning and the end of the
accounting reference period are taken directly to reserves. ltems in the income statement are translated at average exchange
rates, allowing for currency risk hedging effects.




Intangible fixed assets

Differences between the cost and the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition of new equity
participations are capitalized as goodwill and amortized over their estimated useful economic life, subject to a maximum of 20
years.

Intangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that carrying amounts may not be
recoverable.

Tangible fixed assets
Property, plant and equipment are carried at historical cost, net of straight-line depreciation, based on the expected useful
economic lives of the assets concerned and taking into account any expected residual value.

The depreciation periods of the main assets are as follows:

buildings 20-50 years
main components of tank farms 30 years
machinery and equipment 20 years
furniture, fixtures and others 10-20 years
information technology 3-10 years

Where necessary, assets are written down to their recoverable amount when it is lower than historical cost (value
impairments).

Propenrty, plant and equipment under construction are ¢arried at the costs incurred.

Propenrty, plant and equipment held for sale and still in operation continue to be depreciated over the tength of the expected
useful economic lives. Property, plant and equipment not in use are not depreciated.

Maintenance and repair expenses consist of the cost of materials, spare parts and labor, including those of third parties to
keep the operational tangible fixed assets in working condition. These costs are expensed as incurred.

Financial fixed assets
Equity participations in which the company exercises significant influence are carried at net asset value, allowing for expected
value impairments. Other equity participations are carried at cost.

Current assets

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost (calculated on the basis of average purchase prices) net of an allowance for
obsolescence, as appropriate, or market value. The expected future use of inventory is based on estimates about future
demand and past experience with similar inventories and their usage.

Accounts receivable are stated net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. The risk of uncollectability of accounts receivable is
primarily esiimated based on prior experience. Large accounts are assessed individually based on factors that include ability
to pay, bankruptcy and payment history.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include all bank balances and short-term, highly liquid investments with an original maturity of
three months or less that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and are stated at face value.

Provisions
Provisions are recorded for obligations (constructive or legally enforceable) and losses when amounts, though uncertain, can
be reasonably estimated and where it is probable that settlement will entail an outflow of funds.

Deferred tax liabilities are stated at the non-discounted value of obligations arising from timing differences in the valuation of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting and tax purposes. Deferred tax assets are recorded to the extent it is likely they will
be reailized.

Provisions for reorganizations are recorded at the date the company is committed to the reorganization plan. These
provisians are included under other provisions.

Environmental provisions

Provisions for environmental remediation costs are recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the
amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated. In general, the company believes costs of environmental remediation that
could potentially arise after 10 years are not reasonably estimable.

Environmental costs are capitalized if the costs extend the life of the property, increase its capacity, andfor mitigate or prevent
contamination from future operations, Costs related to investigation of potential environmental matters are expensed as
incurred.




Long-term debt

Long-term debt consists of loans with original maturities greater than one year. Amounts are stated at face value (excluding
any accrued interest, which is included within interest payable). Forgign currency balances are translated to functional
currency at the closing rate, unless forward currency contracts exist, in which case the clasing forward rate is applied.

income taxes
Current income taxes are computed on the income presented in the financial statements adjusted to taxable income in
accordance with local tax legislation.

Deferred income tax recognition is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Revenues
Net sales is the total value of sales of products and services rendered and is attributed to the period in which the goods are
delivered and/or the services are rendered.

The company recognizes revenue when all of the following conditions have been satisfied:

(a) the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have been transferred to the buyer;

(b) the company retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor
effective control over the goods sold;

(c) the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

(d) itis probable the economic benefits associated with the transaction will fiow to the company; and

(e) the costs incurred or to be incurred with respect to the transaction can be measured reliably.

Cost of goods sold
Cost of goods sold includes all inventory costs such as purchase price and transporiation cost of the product sold, as well as
direct labor and other costs incurred to blend and repackage the product.

Employee benefit plans
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognized as an expense in the income statement as
incurred.

The net obligation with respect to defined benefit pension plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the
amount of the fulure benefit employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is
discounted to determine the present value, and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The discount rate is the yield at
the balance sheet date on AAA credit-rated bonds that have maturity dates consistent with the terms of Univar's obligations.
The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit-credit method.

When the benefits of a plan are impraved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service by employees is
recognized as an expense on the income stalement on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become
vested. To the extent the benefits vest immediately, the expense is recognized immediately on the income statement.

in calculating Univar’s obligation with respect to a plan, to the extent any cumulative unrecognized actuarial gain or loss
exceeds ten percent of the greater of the present value of the defined benefit obligation or the fair value of the plan assets,
that portion is recognized in the income statement over the expected average remaining working lives of the employees
participating in the plan. Otherwise, the actuarial gain or loss is not recognized. Where the calculation results in a benefit to
Univar, the recognized asset is limited to the net total of any unrecognized actuarial losses and past service costs and the
present value of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

The net obligation with respect lo long-term service benefits, other than pension plans, is the amount of future benefits
employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. The obiigation is calculated using the
projected unit-credit method and is discounted to its present value, and the fair value of any related assets is deducted. The
discount rate is the yield at the balance sheet date on AAA credit-rated bonds that have maturity dates consistent with the
terms of Univar's obligations.

Derivative financial instruments
Gains and losses on transactions designed to hedge future cash flows are recognized at the same time the corresponding
cash flows are recognized.

Monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the year-end rate of the functional currency and resulting differences are
taken directly to the income statement.

Cash flow

The statement of cash flows is drawn up using the indirect method. Cash flows denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at average exchange rates. The cash flows in the statement of cash flows are divided between operating activities,
investing activities and financing activities.

Receipts and expenditures relating to interest, dividends received and income taxes are included under net cash flow from
operating aclivities.

Acquisitions of group companies and equity participations are included under net cash flow from investing aclivities.

Dividend distributions are included under net cash flow from financing activities.




Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders (after
deducting interest on the cumulative financing preference shares) by the weighted average number of erdinary shares
outstanding during the year. Fully diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary
shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year (adjusted for the efiects of
dilutive options and dilutive cumulative financing preference shares).

Segments

The company operates in one business segment. Univar's operations and aclivities are in three main geographical areas: the
United States of America, Europe and Canada. The other segment includes certain holding company related expenses and
developing businesses.

Leases

Finance leases, which transfer to the company substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased
item, are capitalized at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the
minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability
so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly
against income. Capitalized leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the
lease term. Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as
operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Notes to the consolidated income statement

1 Net sales

The breakdown of net sales by geographical area is given under Segment information, Note 20.

2 Cost of goods sold

Cost of goods sold primarily relates to inventory sold and includes $77.2 million of personne! costs relating to certain

processing activities (2003 $73.1 million). To conform to current year's presentation, cost of goods sold of $3.1 million in
2003 was reclassified to personnel costs.

3 Personnel costs
(in US $ millions) 2004 2003
Wages and salaries $394.2 $352.7
Social security charges 47.7 44 .4
Pension and other post-employment charges 41.4 4i 9
Total $483.3 $439.0

For the remuneration of the company directors, refer to Note 26 in the financial statements of Univar N.V.

On average, the group employed 6,705 staff in 2004 (2003: 6,808). The breakdown by region is provided in Segment
information, Note 20.

Movements in the number of company employees

2004 2003

January 1, 6,786 6,877
Movements owing 1o acquisitions/disposals - 39
Other movements . (114) (130)

December 31, 6,672 6,786




4 Income taxes

Taxes on income amounted to $42.3 million (2003: $22.5 million), and are detailed as follows:

(in US $ millions) 2004 2003
The Netherlands:
Current tax charge/{benefit) $ 28 $ (5.5)
Deferred tax charge/(benefit) {2.2) (10.1}
$ 06 $(15.6)
Other countries:
Current tax charge $41.9 $ 348
befe};ed-t-;x charg_él(.beneﬁl) (0.2) 3.3
$41.7 $ 381
Income tax expense $42.3 $ 225
{in US $ millions) 2004 2003
Taxes at weighted average statutory rate $39.8 36.3% $26.2 39.3%
Amortization of goodwil 6.8 6.2 7.0 105
Non-deductible expenses“ ) 19 17 20 - 3.0
Eossgs no{ subj;at-:t to tax benefﬁ - - 0.5 0.8
"Use of capital loss carry-forwards . . (0.8) (+.3)
Benefit of fiscal foreign exchange loss (3.9 {3.6) (10.9) (16.3)
Other (2.3) (2.1) (1.5) (24)
Income tax expense at effective rate $42.3 38.5% $22.5 33.6%
Movements in the net deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
(in US § millions) 2004 2003
Balance at January 1, $68.6 $54.4
Current-year benefit 24 6.8
Reclassiﬁcalioné ahd adjuélmenrts 4.0 51
Exchange differences 1.4 23
Balance at December 31, $76.4 $68.6
The provision for deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31 can be detailed as follows:
(in US $ millions) 2004 2003
Deferred tax Deferred tax
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Tax loss carry-forward $ 119 $ - $ 97 $ -
Temporary differences 127.6 63.1 127.2 68.3
Balance at December 31, $139.5 $63.1 $136.9 $68.3
Net deferred asset $ 76.4 $ 688

Included in the above amounts are deferred tax assets of $125.8 million (2003: $122.9 million) and deferred tax liabilities of

$55.9 million (2003: $57 .4 million) that are expected to be realized after more than one year.

On December 31, 2003, the Dutch euro fiscal group was split into two new fiscal groups, one US-dollar denominated and the

other euro-denominated. This event resulted in crystallization of net foreign-exchange losses for tax purposes. The related tax

henefit is permanent, since there will be no foreign exchange gain or loss recegnition for profit and loss statement purposes.
Tax benefits of the net foreign exchange losses are recognized as the company is able to realize thent.

As of December 31, 2004, the total remaining benefit of available tax loss carry-forwards related to the fiscal group split

amounts to $37.5 million of which $11.9 million is recognized on the balance sheet. The femporary differences relate primarily

to self-insurance and environmental reserves, pension accruals and depreciation.




5 Exceptional items

In 2004 there were no exceptional items. During 2003, other operating expenses included $5.9 million relating to a laber strike
in the United States.

6 Earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income available to common shareholders by the weighted average
number of outstanding shares. The weighted average number of outstanding shares for 2004 is 29,009,127 (2003:

29,062 090). For 2004, the effect of dilution relating to share option plans was 151,379 shares (2003: 12,020 shares). There
were no other dilutive instruments.

Notes to the consolidated balance sheet
7 Intangible fixed assets

Movements in intangible fixed assets are as follows:

(in US $ millions) 2004 2003
Net book value at January 1, $325.6 $325.1
Movements:
Goodwill acquired ) o ) - ; 0.1 ) - - 4.7
Amortization o (19.3) (18.2)
Exchangé differences T S - :I1 2 - --14‘0 “
Net book value at December 31, $317.6 $3258
Cost - o s3;s2 53815
Accumulated amonrtization S “ ' ‘ (7'}.6) “ - “(55.9).
Net book value at December 31, $317.6 $3256

The total balance of intangible fixed assets is comprised of goodwill. The goodwill relates primarily to the 2001 acquisition of
Ellis & Everard and is being amortized over 20 years.

8 Tangible fixed assets

Movements in net book value of tangible fixed assets are as follows:

Machinery,
Land and equipment, Work under

(in US $ milligns) buildings Tank farms and other construction Total
Balance at January 1, 2004 $306.4 $ 712 $815 $7.1 $466.2

Movements:

Additions 38 1.1 9.2 244 38.5

Reclassification ' - 46 - - 13?6 Y ‘(274;2) : L

Disposals/deconsolidations (4.8) {0.2) {3.3) - (8.3)

Depreciation oMms @ (s - @0

Exchange differences - 89 T 15 T a2 70.3 7 14.9
Balance at December 31, 2004 $307.4 $ 78.2 $78.0 $78 $471.2

Cost $402.3 $139.0 $258.5 3786 $807.4

Accumulated depreciation (94.9) (60.8) (180.5) - (336.2)
Balance at December 31, 2004 $307.4 $ 782 $78.0 376 $471.2

No assets were pledged 1o secure short-term borrowings in 2004 (2003: $1.7 million). Tangible fixed assets include $13.8
million {2003; $14.5 million) retating to fand and buildings not being used. During 2004, there was a change in the estimated
remaining useful fives for certain assets resulting in a reduction in depreciation expense of approximately $4.6 million.




9 Inventories

Inventaries consist primarily of goods held for resale. At December 31, 2004, there was a provision of $7.3 million for slow-

moving and obsolete inventory (2003: $8.0 million).

10 Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are stated net of a provision for doubtful debtors. The provision for doubtful debtors was $16.1 million at
December 31, 2004 (2003; $17.9 million). At December 31, 2004, there was $4.9 million of accounts receivable pledged to

secure shori-term credit (2003: $1.1 million).

11 Other receivables and prepaid expenses
{in US % millions) 2004 2003
Other receivables $ 55.8 $ 519
Current incame tax receivable 16.2 22.4
Other tax receivable 5.7 9.7
Pensions 6.0 53
Deferred ﬂﬁanc.iﬁg cosls 55 -
Prepaid expenses 20.5 99
Deferred tax assels 139.5 136.9

Total $249.2 $236.1

Included in the above are amounts of $139.7 million relating primarily to deferred tax assets and deferred financing costs

expected to be realized after more than one year (2003: $130.1 million).

12 Cash and cash equivalents
{(in US $ millions)} 2004 2003
Cash at bank and on-hand $49.9 $51.4
Deposits 11.7 14.5
Total $61.6 $65.9

Cash at bank and on-hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for

varying periods of between one day and one month depending on the immediate cash requirements of the group, and earn

interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. At December 31, 2004, there was $0.4 million of cash pledged to

collateralize letters of credit and other obligations (2003: $1.8 million).
13 Amounts owed to banks

Amounts owed to banks relates to bank overdrafts.

14 Trade accounts and other accounts payable
{in US $ millions) 2004 2003
Trade payables $663.0 $544.2
Income taxes payable 23.6 26.0
Other taxes payable 20.7 174
Accrued payroll 1axes & social security 138 87
Pension liabilities 7.0 56
Other payables 43.5 40.7
Accruals 94.3 69.0

Total $865.9 $711.6

Included in the above are amounts of $14.7 million relating to items payable after more than one year (2003: $12.3 million).




15 Long-term debt

Carrying Due after
value 5 years Average Average term
(US $ millions) {US $ millions) interest rates in years
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
Bank lpans $413.3 $456.2 $ - § - 4.6% 5.3% 4.5 1.5
Other foans 29 34 0.1 01 52% 5.2% 20 3.2
Current portion (2.3) {2.4) - -
Total $413.9 $457.2 $0.1 %0.1
Weighted average 4.6% 5.3% 41 15
Movements in long-term debt were as follows:
{in US $ millions) 2004 2003
Balance at January 1, $457.2 $403.1
Movements:
New loans 3454 2401
Repayments {409.3) (226.1)
Movement in current portion of long-term debt (0.2) {0.2)
Exchange differences 208 403
Balance at December 31, $413.9 $457.2

On June 28, 2004, Univar replaced its €750 million syndicated credit facility with a €700 millicn syndicated credit facility that expires
on June 28, 2009. The new facility provides for floating rate loans of varicus maturities and currencies. The new facility consists of

two tranches: Tranche A (€150 million) matures on June 29, 2005, and Tranche B (€550 million) matures on June 26, 2009. Upon the
maturity of Tranche A, the company has the right to request an extension of 364 days. At December 31, 2004, there were no amounts
autstanding under Tranche A.

The following were the advances outstanding under Tranche B of this facility:

2004 2003
US dollar (§) 150.0 150.0
Euro {€) 65.0 85.0
British pound {GBP) 90.0 a0.0
Canadian dollar (CAD) 50.0

The financial covenants, as defined in this facility, are:

+  The ratio of net debt {(which includes long-term debt, amounts owed to banks, current portion of long-term debt, less
cash and cash equivalents) to EBITDA at December 31, 2004, and at each subsequent semi-annual reporting date
up to and in¢luding June 30, 2008, must not exceed 3.25 : 1. For each reporting date thereafter, the ratio must not
exceed 3.0 : 1. At year-end 2004, the ratiowas 2.2 : 1.

+  The ratio of EBITDA to interest expense must not be less than 4.0 : 1. At year-end 2004, the ratiowas 7.3 1 1.

Certain restrictions apply to this facility. These resfrictions include provisions which provide that borrowings under the facility
may only be used for the financing of certain acquisitions, for working capital and for general corporate purposes, that the net
proceeds from certain disposals and capital markets issues must be used as mandatory prepayments, that create a negative
pledge prohibiting the creation of certain security interests, and that restrict the incurring of financial indebtedness. A number
of major subsidiaries have provided cross guarantees regarding compliance with the commitments under the ferms of this
credit facility. In addition, the facility mandates that Univar implement a hedging program consistent with its risk management

policies.




Breakdown of all loans by currency:

(in millions) Local Currency US Dollars
2004 2003 2004 2003
US dollar ($) 150.6 150.9  $1506  $150.9
Euro (€) 65.0 85.0 88.8 106.9
British pound (GBP) 90.0 90.0 1745 160.7
Canadian dollar (CAD) ' - 50.0 . 38.7

$413.9 $457.2

Based on interest rate swap contracts, and the applicable credit margins, the effective interest rate for the long-term loans at
December 31, 2004, was 4.6% (2003: 5.0%).

16 Financial instruments not recognized on the balance sheet

The market value of forward exchange contracts reflects the unrealized result of revaluing the contracts at foreign-exchange
rates prevailing at the balance sheet date.

The market value of interest rate swaps and forward currency purchase contracts is estimated on the basis of mark-to-market
statements provided at the end of the fiscal year by the banks concerned.

The table below shows the market value and the notional value of the financial instruments not recognized on the balance
sheet at December 31, 2004 and 2003.

(in US $ millions) Market value Notional value*
2004 2003 2004 2003
Cross-currency swaps $ - & - $ 69 $ 264
7 Interest rate swaps (from floating to fixed) (2.8) (5.9) 3733 - 339.2
Currency purchase confracts B {0.7) (0.5) 315 20—,2
Total $(3.5) $(6.4) $411.7 $385.8

* The notional value represents the principal value underlying position and provides no information on the cost or market
value of the instrument.

Breakdown of interest rate swap confracts by currency:

Weighted-average

Principal amount fixed swap Weighted-average

(US $ millions) interest rate term in years
2004 2003 2004 2003 2004 2003
us ¢ollar'(_$) . 110.0 135.0 3.86% 4.38% 0.5 1.0
Euro(€) 88.8 4.8 3.18% 4.75% 26 -
British pound (GBP) 1745 160.7 4.76% 476% 14 15

Canadian dollar (CAD) - 38.7 . 5.25% . 0.1




17 Provisions

Movements in this item were as follows:

Post-
retirement Other
otherthan  pension  Deferred Environ-
(in US $ millions) Pensions pensions plans taxes mental Other Total
Balance at January 1, 2004 $88.0 $31.4 $7.6 $68.3 %709 $17.1 $293.3
Movements:
Additions 334 5.3 0.7 3.0 11.6 55 §9.5
Curtailment gain (3.5) - - - - - {3.5)
Withdrawals/other - - 0.2} (9.3) 1.6 (5.5) {13.4)
Payments (36.1) (1.3) (0.8) - (15.1) (4.5) {57.8)
Exchange differences 31 - 0.6 1.1 16 0.1 6.5
Balance at December 31, 2004 $94.9 $354 7.9 $63.1 $708 $12.7 $284.6

The provisions are primarily of a long-term nature. To conform to current year's presentation, $1.5 million in 2003 was

reclassified from other provisions to environmental provisions.

18 Employee benefits
(in US % millions) 2004 2003
Present value of unfunded obligations $ 94.0 $ 854
Present value of funded obligations 613.2 537.4
Fair value of plan assets {421.0) (353.7)
Present value of net obligations $286.2 $269.1
Unrecognized actuarial resulls (155.9) (139.7}
Recognized liability for defined benefit obligations $130.3 $129.4

Liability for long-service leave

Liability for defined benefit obligations

Univar makes contributions to eleven company-sponsored defined benefit plans that provide pension benefits for employees

upon retirement.

Movements in the net liability recognized in the balance sheet

{in US $ millions) 2004 2003
Net liability at January 1, $1294 31131
Contributions paid (37.4) {27.0)
Expense recognized in the income statement B 35.2 386
Exchange difference 31 47
Net liability at December 31, $130.3 $129.4
Expense recognized in the income statement 2004 2003
Current service costs $ 243 $ 221
Interest on obligation 36.3 ns
Changes due te settlement/curtailment (3.5) -
Recognized actuarial gains/losses 6.6 6.3
Expected return on plan assets and other ‘ (28.5) (21.3)
Total $ 352 $ 3886

The expense is recognized as part of personnel costs for both 2004 and 2003.




Actual return on plan assets was $29.4 million for 2004 (2003: $56.8 million).

Liability for defined benefit obligations
Principal actuariat assumptions for the year ended Decermnber 31,
{expressed as weighted averages)

2004 2003
Discount rate at December 31, 5.6% 5.9%
Expeéted return on plan assets at January 1, 7.9% 7.9%
Future salary increases 4.6% 4.6%
Future pension increases 2.4% 2.4%

For measurement purposes, a 12% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits was
assumed for 2004. tn 2005, the rate is assumed to be 12%. The expected weighted average remaining working lives of the
employees participating in the defined benefit plans for 2004 is 12.6 years (2003: 13.2 years).

19 Stockholders’ equity

A breakdown of stockholders’ equity is included in the notes to the financial statements of Univar N.V. Refer to Note 24 in the
financial statements of Univar N.V,

20 Segment information / Breakdown by geography

{in US $ millions)

2004 2003

us Canada Europe Other Total us Canada Europe Other Total
Income
statement
Net sales $25459 §$ 8303 $18502 § 578 $52842 $22009 $ 7377 $16228 $ 660 54,7174
Depreciation
& amortization $ 301 $ 44 $§ 243 § 06 $ 594 3§ 341 § 39 $ 260 % 03 § 543
Group
operating
income $ 592 § 531 $ 346 $ (103) § 1366 $ 383 $ 429 $ 237 § (71) $ 988
Balance sheet
Intangible
fixed
assets 3 1787 3 57 % 1332 % - % 3176 $ 1899 % 56 % 1301 % - $ 3256
Tangible fixed
assels 27586 718 122.2 1.6 471.2 277.6 672 118.8 26 466.2
Other assets 656.9 248.4 727.1 208 18532 553.0 202.4 639.2 63 1,400.9
Total assets $1,1112 $ 3250 § 9825 § 224 §24420 $10205 $ 2752 § 8881 % 8.9 $21927
Liabilities $ 8937 $ 1592 § 8293 $({246.3) $16359 $ 8493 § 1557 § 7400 $(261.2) §$ 14838
Total
investments
fixed assets $ 200 3% 40 § 143 § 03 % 386 % 132 % 49 § 228 § 12§ 421
Average
number
of employees 3,349 757 2,524 75 6,705 3,447 746 2,575 40 6,808




21 Off-balance sheet commitments

The campany had no investment commitments at the end of 2004 {2003; $0.0). Lease expense for 2004 was $30.7 million
(2003: $29.9 million). Rental and lease commitments at the end of 2004, relating mainly to land and buildings, amounted to
$178.0 million {2003: $156.3 million).

Breakdown of annual rental and lease commitments (fn US $ millions):

2005 $50.8
2006 $39.0
2007 $27.1
2008 3138
2009 $ 98
After 2010 $37.7

The company leases certain property and equipment under various operating lease arrangements. Most of the property
leases provide that the company pay taxes, insurance and maintenance applicable to the leased premises. As leases for
existing locations expire, the company expects to renew the leases or substitute another location and lease.

The majority of the company’s fleet and some equipment are leased through operating leases. Lease terms vary but certain
leases are non-cancelahle for the first 12-month term and then are month-to-month feases, cancelable at the company’s
aption or by the lessor. Certain leases include residual value guarantees on vehicles and equipment, which historically have
not resulted in significant net payments to the lessors. There are no net payments reflected in the future minimum lease
obligation as the leases are cancelable and there are no expected net payments due under the guaraniees.

22 Contingent liabilities

Guarantees and security provided on behalf of equity participations and third parties amounted to $1.4 million at December
31, 2004 (2003: $0.5 million). in addition, Univar provides bank guarantees and standby letters of credit to various institutions
to support tax, pension, insurance and environmental obligations. At December 31, 2004, the total amount of these
guaraniees and letters of credit was $73.7 million, issued through a combination of facilities granted directly by the parent,
Univar N.V_; to loca! subsidiaries and guaranteed by the parent; and to local subsidiaries with no parent guarantee.

Univar was split off from Vopak at the end of June 2002 by means of a legal split-off (juridische splitsing) under Dutch law.
Effective as of the split-off, Univar and Vopak became independent publicly-traded companies. Pursuant to section 2:3341 of
the Dutch Civil Code, Univar is lizble on a joint and several basis for certain Vopak cbligations. This liability applies to
obligations arising under contract as well as to obligations arising under statute (e.g. tax liabilities, environmental liabilities and
other tortious liabilities). Any such liability is a contingent liability. Furthermore, if an obligation of Vopak under Dutch law
qualifies as an obligation which can be split (deelbare verbintenis), Univar's contingent liability will be fimited to the value of
the assets and liabilities it acquired in the split-off. If the obligation cannot be split (ondeelbare verbintenis), Univar is
contingently liable for the entire obligation. A number of Vopak creditors entered into release agreements releasing Univar
from any obligations of Vopak to the creditor for which Univar would be liable pursuant to section 2:334t. Vopak and Univar
entered into an indemnity agreement whereby both parties indemnify the other party from liabilities arising from the activities
of the indemnifying party.

In the ordinary course of its business, Univar is subject to claims from time fo time. The liabilities for injuries to persons or
property are typically covered by liability insurance, and the deductibte and self-insured portions of these liabilities, where
applicable, have been accrued in the consolidated financial statements. Univar is not aware of any litigation or arbitration
proceedings that are likely to have a material adverse effect on its financial position, nor is Univar aware of any such
proceedings that are pending or threatened.

As part of its 1986 purchase of McKesson Chemical Company from McKesson Corporatien (*McKesson™), Univar USA Inc.
agreed to indemnify McKesson for assumed liabilities {*Indemnification Agreement”). Pursuant to the Indemnification
Agreement, Univar USA Inc. is defending approximately 67 lawsuits filed in the State of Mississippi with approximately 17,772
plaintifis alleging personal injury resulling from exposure to asbestos. The first lawsuit was tendered to Univar USA Inc. in
early 2002, with the vast majority of the claims filed in the latter part of 2002, apparently in anticipation of the effective date of
tort reform legislation. Forty-nine of these lawsuits with 16,598 plaintiffs were filed before 2004 and 18 lawsuits with 1,174
plaintiffs were filed in 2004. For a number of reasons, including the fact the Mississippi courts have issued rulings which
provide a basis for the dismissal of a large number of the claims, Univar USA Inc. expects large numbers of the Mississippi
claims to be dismissed or otherwise resolved with minimal payments. Univar USA Inc. is also defending approximately 12
lawsuits with approximately 12 plaintiffs filed in the states of California, lllinois, Missouri and Washington. One of these
lawsuits was filed before 2004 and 11 of the lawsuits were filed in 2004. Univar USA Inc. has accrued its estimated legal
defense costs for the asbestos-related lawsuits. Subsequent to December 31, 2004, two lawsuits and approximately 2,700
Mississippi claims were dismissed without payment and McKesson tendered 77 fawsuits with 77 plaintiffs filed in other states,
of which Univar rejected the tender of 37 lawsuits with 37 plaintiffs.

Environmental obligations

Approximately 96 sites of Univar are currently undergoing remediation efforts or are in the process of active review of the
need for potential remedial efforts. Some of these efforts are being conducted pursuant to governmental proceedings or
investigations, while Univar, with appropriate state or federal agency oversight and approval, is conducting others voluntarily.




At December 31, 2004 and 2003, accruals for environmental liabilities totaled $70.6 million and $70.9 million, respectively.
Cash expenditures during 2004 and 2003 for remedial, monitoring and investigatory activities were $15.1 million and $10.3
million, respectively. The level of annual expenditures will increase or decrease in the future as major components of planned
remediation activities are completed. Univar's accrual for its environmental liabitities is an estimate which is affected by
matters such as information resulting from investigatory studies; information concerning the extent of required cleanup
obtained during remediation; the interpretation, application and enforcement of laws and regulations; changes in the costs of
remediation programs, the development of alternative cleanup technologies and methods; the uncertainty concerning
recovery of such costs from third parties which may be jointly liable; and the relative level of Univar's involvement at various
sites at which the company is allegedly associated. Univar periodically reviews the status of all existing or potential
environmental liabilities and adjusts its accruals based on all available, relevant information,

Univar is subject to environmental liabilities for contamination of sites never occupied by Univar (“non-owned sites”™). From
time to time, Univar or related entities are contacted by various governmental agencies and private parties regarding potential
liability for a share of the cost of clean-up of non-owned sites. These non-owned sites are typically locations of independent
waste disposal or recycling operations with alleged or confirmed contaminated soil and/or groundwater to which Univar may
have shipped waste products. The company believes there are approximately 16 sites for which the company may be liable
for a share of the cost of clean up. Univar's estimate of the probable lability for the remediation of non-owned sites is $1.8
million, and is included in the environmental accrual. Possible costs for these sites could range up to $5.0 million.

Although the company believes adequate accruals have been provided for environmental contingencies, it is possible, due to
the uncertainties noted above, that additional accruals could be required in the future that could have a material effect on the
results of operations in a parlicular period.

Univar N.V. Information

Financial instruments

General

Exposure to credit, interest rate and currency risk arises in the normal course of business activities. Univar makes use of
various financial instruments in accordance with a financial peolicy approved by the management. Derivative financial
instruments are used to reduce exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and interest rates. While these are subject
to the risk of market rates changing subsequent to acquisition, such changes are generally offset by opposite effects on the
items being hedged.

Credit risk

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure o credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations
are performed on all customers requesting credit above a certain level. Univar does not require collateral with respect to
financial assets. :

Investments, if any, are only in liquid securities and only with counterparties that have a credit rating equal to or better than
the company's. Transactions involving derivative financial instruments are with counterparties with whom Univar has a signed
netling agreement and whom have high credit ratings. Given their high credit ratings, management does not expect any
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

At the batance sheet date, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset, including derivative financial instruments, on the balance shest.

Interest rate risk

Under the terms of the €700 million credit facility, Univar is required to implement and maintain the directives of its hedging
policy, as it may be defined from time to time. Under the terms of the company's hedging policy as of December 31, 2004, the
company is required to maintain a certain portion of its debt in fixed-rate instruments, or to maintain floating-for-fixed interest
rate swap agreements. In accordance with this policy, the company had outstanding floating-for-fixed interest rate swaps
amounting to $373.3 million. These swaps were denominated in US dollars, euros and British pounds, and mature over the
next three years. Swap rates range from 2.1% to 5.84%.

Currency risk

Univar may be adversely affected by foreign-exchange rate ftuctuations. Due to the multinational nature of its business,
substantial portions of Univar's revenues and expenses are denominated in currencies other than the US dollar, the currency
in which its financial statements are expressed. Fluctuations in exchange rates between such currencies and the US dollar
could significantly affect Univar’s reported results from year to year.

In addition, there are certain situations where Univar incurs costs in currencies other than those in which revenues are
earned. however, because of the nature of Univar's business, these exposures are typically of short duration and not material
to the overall results of the company. In any event, such transactions are routinely hedged.

In accordance with Univar's current policy, all net transaction positions are routinely hedged against currency risks by using
foreign-exchange forward contracts. The company has not used derivative instruments to hedge the transiation risk related to
equily, intercompany loans of a permanent nature, or earnings of foreign subsidiaries.




Financial instruments recognized on the balance sheet

The finangcial instruments recognized under assets and liabilities include cash and cash equivalents, current and long-term
receivables, payables and debts. The estimated market value of these instruments at December 31, 2004, approximates their
book value.

Financial Statements

Company’s income statement
for the years ended December 31,

The company’'s income statement has been prepared in accordance with section 2:402 of the Dutch Civil Code.

(in US $ millions) 2004 2003
Income from group companies after income taxes 68.7 20.1
Other income/(expense) after income taxes {1.1) 243
Net income 67.6 44.4
Dividend on cumulative financing preference shares 2.4 2.2
Net income available to common shareholders 65.2 42.2

Company’s balance sheet at December 31,
(before proposed distribution of net income to holders of common shares)

(in US $ millions) Note 2004 2003
Financial fixed assets 23 962.4 852.2
Tangible fixed assets ' 0.5 -
Total fixed assets 962.9 852.2
Other receivables 11.2 15.0
Total current assets 11.2 15.0
Dividend on cumulative financing preference shares ] ) 27 2.4
Other current liabilities 15.5 6.1
Total current liabilities 18.2 8.5
Current assets less current liabilities (7.0} 6.5
Total assets less current liabilities 955.9 858.7
Long-term debt 150.0 150.0
Share capital i 58.2 536
Share premium _ 575.6 572.1
Currency translation reserve ) B o N N 52._3 ) 228
Undistributed earnings 119.8 60.2
Stockholders’ equity 24 805.9 708.7

Total 955.9 858.7




Notes to the financial statements
All amounts are in US dollars, unless stated otherwise.

On December 29, 2004, Univar N.V., Univar Worldwide B.V. and Univar UK B.V. were merged into a single corporate entity,
Univar N.V. From a commercial and fiscal perspective, the merger was given retroactive effect 1o January 1, 2004. The
merger was made primarily 1o ease the administrative burden of having previously maintained and accounted for three
separate holding company structures. The separate financial accounts of each company were consolidated into a single
corporate entity, Univar N.V. The three previously existing companies represented the members of the dollar-denominated
fiscal group. Following the merger, Univar N.V. represents the resulting dollar-denominated fiscal entity.

Accounting policies
Group companies are carried at net asset value.

Term and interest rate information of long-term debt is included under Long-term debt, note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements. The average interest rate on group loans is 2.6%.

The other accounting policies are the same as those used for the consolidated financial statements.

23 Financial fixed assets
Group Loans to group
{in US § millions) companies companies Total
Balance at January 1, 2004 $ 181 $834.1 $852.2
Movements:
Merger of entities 136.1 221 158.2
Transfer of loans to group company 103.6 (221.3} (117.7)
Investments, including acquisitions and advances - 19.6 19.6
Disposals, repayments - (56.9) {56.9})
Exchange differences 271 11.2 38.3
Net income 68.7 - 68.7
Balance at December 31, 2004 $353.6 $608.8 $962.4

In accordance with section 2:379, Book 2, of the Dutch Civil Code, a list of the principal group companies has been filed with
the company Registry in Rotterdam for inspection. The list also includes the information required under section 2:414 of the
Dutch Civil Code.

24 Stockholders’ equity

As of December 31, 2004, the company's authorized share capital was €120 million, divided into 43,000,000 common shares,
20,000,000 cumulative financing preference shares {"Finpref’) and 60,000,000 cumulative preference shares, all at €1.00 par
value, At an extraordinary general meeting of the company ("EGM") held on December 15, 2004, the shareholders approved
and resolved to {i) redeem all issued and outstanding cumulative financing preference shares series 1 and series 2 and (i} to
amend the Articles of Association of the company. The amendments to the Articles of Association of the company include a
reduction of the authaorized share capital of the company to €64 million, divided into 32,000,000 common shares and
32,000,000 cumulative preference shares, all at €1.00 par value, and a cancellation of the cumulative financing preference
shares as a class of authorized capital. The deed of the amendment of the Arlicles of Association of the company was
executed on February 23, 2005, and the cumulative financing shares series 1 and series 2 were redeemed with payment on
February 28, 2005.

The issued share capital at December 31, 2004, consisted of 29,963,987 common shares, of which 713,915 common shares
and one sub-share were included as treasury shares to account for the current option plan, and 12,700,000 cumulative
financing preference shares. The treasury shares are held to support the employee stock option program. At December 31,
2004, there were 60,415 treasury shares in excess of option rights outstanding. The issued share capital with respect to
common and cumulative financing preference shares has been converted to US dollars at the exchange rate prevailing at the
balance sheet date, €/$1.3655 as of December 31, 2004 (€/31.258 as of December 31, 2003).

At incorporation, 90,000 common shares with a par value of €0.50 were issued and subsequently converted into 45,000
common shares with a par vatue of €1.00 of a special class. These shares were cancelled on Cctober 9, 2002.

Each year, a dividend is distributed to the holders of depositary receipts for cumulative financing preference shares. The
dividend on the cumulative financing preference shares was fixed for 2003 and 2004 at 6.74%. The dividend percentage for
the Univar Finpref Shares series 1 and series 2 was resel at 5.14% for the first time on January 1, 2005. This reset was
based on the average effective 5-year euro-denominated swap rate, calculated over the five days preceding the reset date, as
published on Reuters Telerate page 42281 {or a page replacing this), in the column "mean” at 11 hours Brussels time,
increased by 2.0%, as determined by the Executive Board upon approval of the Supervisory Board.




After the split-off became effective, Univar acquired 867,572 common shares from Stichting Parkeeraandelen Vopak. This
transaction was under title of purchase and sale subject to delivery taking place on the suspensive condition of the adoption
of the financial statements of Univar, from which sufficient freely dislributable reserves are available to allow for such
acquision. In September 2003, Univar purchased 102,971 common shares at an average price of €9.61 on the open market.
During 2004, Univar sotd 256,628 of the common shares at an average price of €12.26 on the open market. The shares were
sold upon the exercise of employee stock options.

Movements in stockholders' equity were as follows:

Cumulative Total
financing Currency stock-
Common preference Share  franslation Undistributed holders’
(in US $ millions) shares shares  premium reserve earnings equity
Balance at January 1, 2003 $31.5 $133 $573.2 $(7.0) $ 242 $635.2
Movements:
Addition from income - - - - 44 .4 44.4
Translation differences on
the net invesiment in - - - 38.9 ) 38.9
foreign group companies ’
Income for the year - - - 389 444 83.3
Treasury shares - - {1.1) - - {1.1)
Currency ftranslation
difference 6.2 26 ) {8.8) ) -
Preferred dividend - - - (0.2} (2.2) {2.4)
Common dividend - - - (0.1} {6.2) (6.3}
Balance at January 1, 2004 $37.7 $15.9 55721 $22.8 $ 60.2 $708.7
Movements:
Addition from income - - - - 676 67.6
Translation differences on
the net investment in - - - 339 - 339
foreign group companies
Income for the year - - - 339 67.6 101.5
Treasury shares - - 4.2 - - 4.2
Deferred tax adjustment . - - - 49 4.9
Tax on treasury shares - - {0.7) - - {0.7)
C.urrency translation 32 14 } (4.6) } }
difference
Preferred dividend - - - (0.2) (2.4) (2.6)
Common dividend - _ _ 04 {10.5) (10.1)
Balance at December 31, 2004 $409 $17.3 $575.6 $52.3 $119.8 $805.9

Under the Articles of Association of Univar, holders of cumulative financing preference shares are entitled to the paid-in share
premium amounting to €16.1 million ($22.0 million) at December 31, 2004.

The currency transiation reserve is a legal non-distributable reserve. No revaluation of assets has been included.
25 Option rights

Due to the split-off from Vopak, the exercise prices of certain oplions granted in previous years were adjusted as follows:

Original Recalculated
Year of exercise exercise price in €
Term options price in € Univar Vapak
untit  Mar 1, 2006 2000 24.70 12.46 18.45
until  Nov 10, 2006 2001 16.73 8.44 12.49

The company has awarded options o certain company executives based on their position and responsibilities pursuant to an
option plan adopted each year. The company hedges options granted by maintaining an approximately equivalent number of
treasury shares. The options have a term of five or seven years from the year of grant. The option holder can exercise the
rights during certain exercise periods, subject to observance of appropriate rules.




Some employees hold options granted by Vopak in 2000 and 2001. Due to the split-off from Vopak, each option holder
exercising these options is entitled to one-half a Univar share for every one Vopak share. Exercising the right to both shares

must take place simultaneously.

The conditional employee stock options can be exercised three years after being granted subject to certain vesting and
employment requirements. Under the conditional options granted in 2003 and 2004, the company's share price at exercise
must be at least twice the price at the time the options were granted.

Breakdown of option rights granted:

Year of Qutstanding rights at December 31,
Term aptions Qptions granted Exercise price in € 2004 2003
Conditional options
until  Mar 1, 2005 2000 428,500 12.46 64,500 327,000
until " Nov 10, 2006 2001 20,000 8.44 20,000 20,000
until  May 22, 2010 2003 292,000 7.60 282,000 282,000
until - May 24, 2011 2004 287,000 13.95 287,000 -
Total 1,027,500 653,500 629,000

The number of conditional options expiring or forfeited in 2004 was 5,872. In 2004, 256,628 options were exercised.

Breakdown of option rights granted to Gary Pruitt:

Year of Qutstanding rights at December 31,
Term options  Options granted Exercise price in € 2004 2003
Conditional options _
until  Mar 1, 2005 2000 4000 12.48 4,000 4,000
until  Nov 10, 2006 2001 20,000 8.44 20,000 20,000
until  May 22, 2010 2003 70,000 7.60 70,0600 70,000
until  May 24, 2011 2004 70,000 13.95 70,000 -
Total 164,000 164,000 94,000
In 2004, Mr. Pruitt exercised O options.
Breakdown of option rights granted to Jan Holsboer:
Year of Qutstanding rights at December 31,
Term options Qptions granted Exercise price in € 2004 2003
Conditional options
until  May 22, 2010 2003 7,000 7.60 7,000 7.000
until  May 24, 2011 2004 7,000 13.95 7,000 -
Total 14,000 14,000 7.000
In 2004, Mr. Holsboer exercised 0 options.
26 Remuneration of Executive and Supervisory Directors

The 2004 total remuneration paid to current and former Executive Directors amounted to $1.9 million (2003: $1.6 million) as

follows:
Total Total
{in US § thousands) Salaries Bonus Pensions  Allowance 2004 2003
G. E. Pruitt 808.1 6334 193.9 - 1,6354 1,468.5
J. H. Holsboer* 124.2 984 19.4 1.8 2438 147.7
Total 932.3 731.8 2133 1.8 1,879.2 1,616.2

* Mr. Holshoer was elected by the Annual General Meeting on April 25, 2003.

The members of the Executive Board are entitled to variable compensation consisting of an annual performance bonus and
may receive stock options. The formula used to calculate the annual performance bonus was pre-determined by the
Supervisory Board and was selected as a measurable indicator of performance that is influenced by the management of the




company. The Supervisory Board may adjust the bonus payout up or down, but not to exceed the maximum amount, to
assure the payout reflects each Executive Board member's personal performance and non-financial objectives achieved. For
2004, the anticipated bonus is $0.7 million.

There were 77,000 option rights granted to Executive Board members in 2004.

No loans, advances or guarantees have been issued to members of the Executive Board.

The total remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board consists of a fixed annual salary. The Beard members
receive no bonuses or options.

The total 2004 remuneration paid 1o the Supervisory Board was as follows:

{in US $ thousands) Remuneration
H. de Ruiter (Chairman) * $ 178
P. H. Vogtlander (Chairman) * S : - 39.2
M. van der Vorm (Vice Chairman) ” N ) N 7 i 7 34.1 -
Y. Bobillier S 344
G. J. Sharman 7 . - i 341
Total $159.3

*On May 6, 2004, Mr. de Ruiter resigned and Mr. Vogtlander became Chairman and Mr. van der Vorm became Vice
Chairman.

For 2004, the total remuneration paid to Supervisory Board members was $0.2 million (2003: $0.2 million).

At December 31, 2004, Executive and Supervisory Board members held no shares. In addition, Supervisory Board members
held no options at December 31, 2004, or at December 31, 2003. No loans, advances or guarantees have been issued to
members of the Supervisory Board.

27 Off-balance sheet commitments

The €700 mitlion credit facility was originally cross-guaranteed by Univar N.V., Univar Worldwide B.V., Univar Inc., Univar
USA Inc., Univar Europe Holdings B.V. and Univar UK Ltd. As of December 29, 2004, Univar Worldwide B.V. was merged
into Univar N.V. At December 31, 2004, there was $413.3 million outstanding under this facility.

Guarantees and security provided by Univar N.V. on behalf of equity participations and third parties amounted to $1.4 million
at December 31, 2004 (2003: $0.5 million). In addition, Univar provides bank guarantees and standby letters of credit to
various institutions to support tax, pension, insurance and environmental obligations, under facilities either granted directly to
or guaranteed by Univar N.V. At December 31, 2004, there were $54.1 million outstanding under these arrangements.

Univar N.V. also provides parent guarantees for credit facilities granted to its subsidiaries, amounting to $100.1 million. At
December 31, 2004, there was $36.6 million cutstanding under these credit facilities. Univar N.V. has also assumed the
liability for all the debts arising from legal transactions of one of its subsidiaries. This guarantee is valid until December 31,
2005,

Univar N.V. participates in and guarantees overdraft and cash poocling arrangements involving other related companies in the
Netherands. In this context, Univar has extended guarantees totaling €40 million to banks in the Netherlands.

Univar was split off from Vopak at the end of June 2002 by means of a legal split-off (juridische splitsing) under Dutch law,
Effective at the split-off, Univar and Vopak became independent publicly-traded companies. Pursuant to section 2:334t of the
Dutch Civil Code, Univar is liable on a joint and several basis for certain Vopak abligations. This liability applies to obligations
arising under contract as well as to obligations arising under. statute (tax liabilities, environmental liabilities and other tortious
liabilities for example). Any such liability is a contingent liability. Furthermore, if an obligation of Vopak under Dulch law
qualifies as an obligation which can be split (deetbare verbintenis), Univar's contingent liability will be limited to the value of
the assets and liabilities it acquired in the split-off. If the obligation cannot be split (ondeelbare verbintenis), Univar is
contingently liable with Vopak for the enfire obligation,

Rotterdam, March 16, 2005

The Executive Board The Supervisory Board

G. E. Pruitt, Chairman P. H. Vogtlander, Chairman

J. H. Holshoer M. van der Vorm, Vice Chairman
Y. Bohillier

G. J. Sharman




Other Information

Auditors’ report

Introduction

We have audited the financial statements of Univar N.V. in Rotterdam for the year 2004 These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audit.

Scope

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generaily accepted in the Netherlands. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company at December 31,
2004, and of the results for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
Netherlands, and comply with the financial reporting requirements included in Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code.

Rotterdam, March 16, 2005

Ernst & Young Accountants

Articles of Association provisions governing the distribution of net income
Article 27 {paragraphs 4 and 5) of the Articles of Association of Univar N.V.

4. Such amounts of the profit remaining after the application of the preceding paragraphs will be reserved as the
Execulive Board determines subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board. Insofar as such profit is not reserved
by the application of the preceding sentence, itis at the free disposal of the General Meeting, on the understanding
that no further dividends will be paid out on the preference shares.

5. Dividends become payable within four weeks of the date of being determined, unless the General Meeting appoints
some other date therefore following a proposal of the Executive Board.

Proposed distribution of net income

The dividend on cumulative financing preference shares amounts to €1.9 million. It will be proposed at the Annual General
Meeling that a cash dividend will be distributed of €11.9 miltion ($16.3 million, based on the December 31, 2004, exchange
rate) representing €0.41 ($0.56 based on the December 31, 2004, exchange rate) per depository receipt of common share of
€1.00 par value. It will also be proposed to add the remaining profit after dividend distribution to the other reserves.

Provided that the Annual General Meeting approves the income statement, balance sheet, dividend and distribution proposal,
the total distribution will be made payable on May 18, 2005.

Stichting Univar (“Univar Foundation™)

The abjective of the Univar Foundation, established in Reotterdam, is to further the interests of Univar N.V. (“lhe company"}
and of the enterprise maintained by it and its group companies in such a way that the interests of the company, of this
enterprise and of all those concerned therewith are safeguarded in the best possible manner. Aiso, to resist to the maximum
extent pessible influences which may harm the independence and/or continuity and/or identity of the company and this
enterprise to the detriment of these interests, and to do anything which is related to the foregoing or may be conducive
thereto.

During 2004, Mr. Oort resigned from the Univar Foundation Board, having attained the mandatory retirement age. As

Mr. de Ruiter retired from the Supervisory Board of the company, he resigned from the Univar Foundation Board as required
by the Articles of Association of the Univar Foundation. Mr. Lindenbergh was elected to the Univar Foundation Board to
replace Mr, Qort and Mr. Vogtldnder was appointed to replace Mr. de Ruiter.

The Board of Directors of the Univar Foundation consists of the following members:

Mr. W._ E. de Vin, Chairman

Mr. J. H. M. Lindenbergh

Mr. R. E. Selman

Mr, A. P. Timmermans

Mr. P.H. Vogtlander

The company and the Univar Foundation entered into a Preference Share Call Option Agreemeiit for the company's

cumulative preference shares. Under this agreement, the Univar Foundation will have the right to call for the issue of
cumulative preference shares issued by the company, with a nominal value of €1.00 per share. The subscription of




cumulative preference shares will take place at par, against payment of 25% of the nominal value, up to a maximum number
of 100% of the share capital issued and outstanding in the form of the company’s common and cumulative financing
preference shares at the time the option is exercised, less the par value of one common share. The Univar Foundation
entered into a Standby Facility Agreement to provide a source of funds to pay for the cumulative preference shares. The
issuance of the cumulative preference shares could delay or deter proposals to acquire the company, or other transactions
that might result in a change of contral.

The Univar Foundation is authorized to exercise the option if in its judgment this is desired to achieve its objectives.
Rotterdam, March 16, 2005
Statement of independence

The Executive Board of Univar N.V. and the Univar Foundation Board hereby declare that, in their joint opinion, the
requirements of Appendix X of the Listing Regulations of the Euronext N.V. Amsierdam have been satisfied with respect to
the independence of the directors of the Univar Foundation Board.

Rotterdam, March 18, 2005
Stichting Administratiekantoor Financieringspreferente Aandelen Univar (“Stichting AK”)

Stichting AK was established in Rotterdam on June 29, 2002, in connection with the split-off of Stichting Administratiekantoor
Financieringspreferente Aandelen Vopak. As of December 31, 2004, Stichling AK was the holder of 12,700,000 registered
cumulative financing preference shares series 1 and series 2 with a nominal value of €1.00 each. Depositary receipts were
issued against these cumulative financing preference shares for an equal nominal amount. At an extraordinary general
meeting of Univar N.V. (“EGM") held on December 15, 2004, the shareholders approved the redemption of the issued
cumulative financing preference shares series 1 and series 2 and the cancellation of the cumulative financing preference
shares as a class of authorized capital stock. The cumulative financing preference shares series 1 and series 2 were
redeemed with payment on February 28, 2005.

During 2004, Mr. Tammes' four-year term ended and he was re-elected to the Board of Direclors of Stichting AK.
The Board of Directors of Stichting AK consists of the following membars:

Mr. G. J. Tammes, Chairman

Mr. H. J. Baeten

Mr. H. de Ruiter

Mr. G. E. Pruitt

Mr. L. P. E. M. van den Boom

Rotterdam, March 16, 2005

Information on the Executive Board members

G.E. Pruitt (Chairman)

Nationality : American
Year of birth o 1950
Previous important positions held . Chairman of the Executive Board, Koninklijke Vopak N.V.

Mermnber of the Executive Board, Koninklijke Vopak N.V.
Chief Financial Officer, Vopak North America Inc.

Supervisory Board Memberships . none

Number of Univar shares held © none

Appainted : April 24, 2002

J.H. Holsboer (member)

Nationality : Dutch

Year of birth T 1946

Previous important positions held . Member Executive Board, ING

Chairman Executive Committee, Financial Services International of ING
Supervisory Board, WUH Bank
Supervisory Board, BBL Bank
Supervisory Board, ING Lease
Supervisory Board, NPM Investments
Supervisory Board, OBAM Investment Fund
Chairman Corporate Board (CEQ), NRG
Supervisory Board memberships . PartnerRe
Atradius N.V.
TD Waterhouse Bank N.V.
Yura/Vittoria Capital N.V.
Foundation Imtech
Number of Univar shares held Ionong
Appointed : April 25, 2003




Information on the Supervisory Board members

Mr. P. Vogllsnder (Chairman)
Nationality

Year of birth _
Previous important positions held

Other Supervisory Board Memberships
Other Positions

Number of Univar shares held
First appointed
End of current term

Chairman Selection and Appointment Committee

Member Remuneration Committee

Mr. M. van der Vorm (Vice Chairman)
Nationality

Year of birth

Main position

Other Supervisory Board Memberships

Number of Univar shares held
First appointed

End of current term

Chairman Audit Committee
Member Remuneration Committee

Mr. Y. Bobillier (member)

Nationality

Year of birth

Previous important positions held
Other Supervisory Board Memberships
Number of Univar shares held

First appointed

End of current term

Chairman Remuneration Committee
Member Audit Committee

Prof. G. J. Sharman (member)
Nationality

Year of birth

Previous important positions held
Other Supervisory Board Memberships

Number of Univar shares held
First appointed

End of current term

Member Audit Committee

Member Selection and Appointment Committee

Dutch

1938

President and CEQ of Montell, subsidiary the Royal Dutch Shell Group
Coordinator Chemicals of the Royal Dutch Shell Group
Van Leeuwen Pipe and Tube

Chairman of the Dutch Energy Council

Member of the Council of the National Greenfund
Member of the Advisory Council of SenterNovem

none

April 25, 2003

2007

Dutch

1958

Chairman of the Executive Board of HAL Holding N.V,
Anthony Veder Group N.V.

Koninklijke Boskalis Westminster N.V.

Koninklijke Vopak N.V.

none

April 24, 2002

2006

Swiss

1940

President of Dow Europe Zlrich
Advisory Board of INSEAD, Switzerland
none

April 24, 2002

2006

British and American

1938

Director of McKinsey & Company
Draka N.V.,

Netherlands Fulbright Center
none

April 24, 2002

2006
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Gary E. Pruitt This report and the statements contained in it are
Chairman submitted for the general information of the stock-
holders of Univar N.V. and not in connection with
the sale or the solicitation of any offer to buy any
securities, nor is it intendad as a representation by
the company of the value of its securities.

Jan H. Holsboer

Supervisory Board This annual report also is available in Dutch.

P. H. Vogtlénder In cases where textual inconsistencies between

Chairman the Dutch and English versions occur, the latter
will prevail.

M. vanderVo— ~~
Vice Chairman
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